EDGAROnline

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES INC

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/01/12 for the Period Ending 12/31/11

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

35 EAST 62ND STREET

NEW YORK, NY 10065
2126729100

0001010086

SIGA

2834 - Pharmaceutical Preparations
Biotechnology & Drugs

Healthcare

12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2012, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of tb Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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The aggregate market value of the voting and ndimy@ommon stock held by non-affiliates of theisegnt, based upon the closing sale price of tmeroon
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Item 1. Business

Certain statements in this Annual Report on ForrKl@nhcluding certain statements contained in “Biesis” and “Managemest’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition @Results of Operations,” constitute “forward-lookistatementswithin the meaning «
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as ameelndind Section 21E of the Securities ExchangeoAd934, as amended. The word:
phrases “can be,” “expects,” “may affect,” “may deg,” “believes,” “estimate,” “projectand similar words and phrases are intend¢
identify such forward-looking statements. Such farsMooking statements are subject to various known wmichown risks and uncertaint
and SIGA cautions you that any forwdmbking information provided by or on behalf of $4@s not a guarantee of future performa
SIGA’s actual results could differ materially frotlnose anticipated by such forwaabking statements due to a number of factors, sof
which are beyond SIGA’ control, including, but not limited to, (i) thésk that potential products that appear promisiogStGA or it
collaborators cannot be shown to be efficaciousafe in subsequent paéinical or clinical trials, (ii) the risk that Si&or its collaborators wi
not obtain appropriate or necessary governmenfalo@pls to market potential products, (iii) thekrihat SIGA may not be able to obt
anticipated funding for its development projectsotiner needed funding, (iv) the risk that SIGA nmrayt be able to secure funding fr
anticipated governmental contracts and grantsth@yisk that SIGA may not be able to secure oomef sufficient legal rights in its produc
including patent protection, (vi) the risk that aciyallenge to SIGA patent and other property rights, if adverselieheined, could affe
SIGA'’s business and, even if determined favorabbuld be costly, (vii) the risk that regulatory vég@ments applicable to SIG&'product
may result in the need for further or additionatiteg or documentation that will delay or preveatldng or obtaining needed approval
market these products, (viii) the risk that onemmre protests could be filed and upheld in wholengrart or other governmental action tal
in either case leading to a delay of performanaeu$IGA’s contract (the “BARDA ContractWith the U.S. Biomedical Advanced Rese:
and Development Authority (“BARDA”) to deliver a sifpox antiviral to the U.S. Strategic National &tpile (the “Strategic Stockpile™dr
other governmental contracts, (ix) the risk that BARDA Contract is modified or canceled at theuesi or requirement of the U
government, (x) the risk that the adverse portiohdhe postrial decision by the Delaware Chancery Court ie thigation brought b
PharmAthene, Inc. will be upheld in further prodeed, including any appeal, or that the favorakietipns will be modified, (xi) the risk th
the volatile and competitive nature of the biotemlbgy industry may hamper SIG&kefforts to develop or market its products, (ttig risk the
changes in domestic and foreign economic and markeditions may adversely affect SIGAability to advance its research or its produants
(xiii) the effect of any change to federal, statefareign regulation, including drug regulation aimernational trade regulation, on SIGA’
businesses. All such forwatdeking statements are current only as of the datevhich such statements were made. SIGA doesmuzrtak:
any obligation to update publicly any forwdmbking statement to reflect events or circumstaraféer the date on which any such statem:
made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipateshts.

Overview

SIGA Technologies, Inc. is referred to throughduis teport as “SIGA,” “the Company,” “we” or “us.”

We are a pharmaceutical company specializing indéheslopment and commercialization of pharmacelusicktions for some of tl
most lethal disease-causing pathogens in the wosldhallpox, Ebola, dengue, Lassa fever and othereatang viruses. Our business i
discover, develop, manufacture and successfullyncervialize drugs to prevent and treat these pigbrity threats. Our mission is to dise
dreaded viral diseases and create robust, modedefeinse countermeasures.

Commercial Product - ST-246®

Our lead product, SP46, is an orally administered antiviral drug thatgets orthopoxviruses. On May 13, 2011, we sigthe
BARDA Contract pursuant to which we agreed to delitwvo million courses of ST-246 to the StratediocBpile. The fiveyear base contre
award is worth approximately $435 million, and 8®RDA Contract also includes various options toelercised at BARD/AS discretion. A
originally issued, the BARDA Contract included gstion for the purchase of up to 12 million additourses of SP46; however, followin
a protest by a competitor of the Company, BARDAI&zs a contract modification on June 24, 2011 puntsteawhich it deleted the option
purchase the additional courses. Under the BARDAt@at as modified, BARDA has agreed to buy fror®&I1.7 million courses of SP46
Additionally, SIGA will contribute to BARDA 300,00@ourses manufactured using federal funds provimethe U.S. Department of Hee
and Human Services (“HHSUnder prior development contracts. The BARDA Carttess modified also contains options that will pei&GA
to continue its work on pediatric and geriatricsiens of the drug as well as use of 346 for smallpox prophylaxis. As discussed in [t8)
“Legal Proceedings,the amount of profits we are likely to retain pustto the BARDA Contract is dependent upon resmiudf the pendin
dispute described in such section.

We believe ST-246 will be the first entirely newallmolecule drug delivered to the Strategic Stalekpnder the Project

2




Table of Contents

BioShield Act of 2004 (“Project BioShield”). The 8. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA") has desitgthST-246 for “fast-track status,”
creating a path for expedited FDA review and evaintegulatory approval.

ST-246 is a novel, patented drug that is easy doesttransport and administer. @46 inhibits vaccinia, cowpox, ectrome
(mousepox), monkeypox, rabbitpox, camelpox, andolasmallpox) replication in cell culture and warious animal models, but not ot
unrelated viruses. There could be several usemf@ffective smallpox antiviral drug: therapeutigalo reduce mortality and morbidity in thc
infected with the smallpox virus; prophylactically protect the noimmmune who risk developing smallpox following viregposure; an
lastly, as an adjunct to the smallpox vaccine oteoto reduce the frequency of serious adversetedere to the live virus used for vaccinat
We filed an Investigational New Drug (“IND”) appéition for ST246 with FDA in November 2005. In June 2006, wecessfully complete
the first human clinical safety study of ST-246.eTiial showed the drug to be wédlerated in healthy human volunteers at all testedly
administered doses. In addition, data from bloogtllexposure was sufficient to support once-a-dagirdy. The study was a douliiénd,
randomized, placebo controlled and ascending sidgke study. In 2006, SA46 became the first oral drug ever to demonstif@X
protection against human smallpox virus in a préraial conducted at the U.S. Centers for Diseasatr@l and Prevention (“CDC")Later ir
2006, in two norhuman primate trials the drug demonstrated 100%eption for animals injected with high doses of keypox virus. On
study was sponsored by the National Institute dérly and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID”) at the Natal Institutes of Health (“NIH")The
second study was conducted by the U.S. Army Medredearch Institute of Infectious Diseases (“USAMR) and was funded by t
Department of Defense’s Threat Reduction AgencyTRRA"). Also in late 2006, ST246 received Orphan Drug designation for botk
treatment and prevention of smallpox, and subsetjuen September 2010, received Orphan Drug desigmdor the broader indication
treatment of orthopoxvirus infections (vacciniarigka, monkeypox and cowpox). An additional Phaséirical trial started in February 20
was a 21-day, escalating, multiple-dose, Phaséetysdolerability and pharmacokinetics study of-346 at three different dosages in hee
volunteers. The study was completed in Decembe¥ 280d the results indicated that the drug was aadiewell tolerated at all tested dose:
August 2008, a Phase | study was performed at then@ Clinical Research Center in Orlando, Flota@ompare S46 polymorph form
to form V. We submitted the final Clinical Study et for that study to the FDA in May 2009. In Detdser 2009, we completed a Phas
multiple dose clinical trial to evaluate the safdtterability and pharmacokinetics of B6 when administered as a single, daily oral dok
fourteen days. In that study, SB6 was well tolerated and did not elicit any sesiadverse events. More recently, in 2011, we cetaglthre
additional monkeypox efficacy studies in nbaman primates to support dose selection, treatafegtlesion onset and dose duration. The
reports on these studies have been submitted tofBDreview.

In December 2011, FDA convened an Advisory Committeconsider proposals for using a surrogate pokearus model in lieu of
reproducible and consistent variola model and terde@ne what elements of the “animal rule” consétlenough”evidence for approval of
drug for the treatment of smallpox. The Advisoryn@oittees recommendation confirmed that the monkeypox, itabk and ectromel
models, especially in combination, could suitablgvyide appropriate evidence of efficacy for treattnef smallpox. Animal testing to date |
proven ST-246 to be highly effective in all thrdalese models.

Product Candidates and Market Potential

Dengue Antiviral : Dengue fever, dengue hemorrhagic fever, and desgjack syndrome are caused by one of four semtyjpgengu
virus of the genus Flavivirus. Dengue is considdrgdhe World Health Organization to be the mospamant arthropodborne viral disea:
with an estimated 5000 million people infected with the virus each iyeghere is currently no approved antiviral or viaecfor the treatme
or prevention of dengue-mediated disease. We dlyreave two drug series in the pcénical development stage, each with activity agaal
four serotypes of virus. Compounds from these sehiave recently shown efficacy in a murine modeldisfease and are undergc
optimization through medicinal chemistry.

Anti-Arenavirus Drug: Arenaviruses are hemorrhagic fever viruses thae lmen classified as Category A agents by CDC alties
great risk that they pose to public health andomati safety. The hemorrhagic fever arenavirusesgaairus in Africa and Junin, Machu
Guanarito and Sabia viruses in South America) havavailable FDAapproved treatment. In order to combat this threat,scientists ha
identified one lead drug candidate, which has destrated significant antiviral activity in cell cule assays against Lassa fever virus. L
fever is an acute viral illness prevalent in Wedtica with an estimated 100,000 to 300,000 infewdioWe have demonstrated therape
efficacy of our lead candidate against Lassa faveseveral animal challenge studies. We also hawgrams against other hemorrhagic f
viruses, including Rift Valley Fever, Lymphocytib@riomeningitis virus and Ebola. We believe that #@vailability of hemorrhagic fever vir
antiviral drugs will address national and globalséy needs by acting as a significant deterrentt defense against the use of arenavirus
weapons of bioterrorism or biowarfare.

Broad Spectrum Antiviral : We continue research and development efforts diaiedeveloping a comprehensive biodefense ay
those microbial agents most likely to be deploygdialogical weapons. A broad-spectrum antivirabldchave great
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utility against natural or intentional introductiaf these agents into population centers, as vgepravide a treatment option in areas w
these pathogens are endemic. Screening for agidgainst specific CDC Category A and B pathogatikizing our highthroughput screenii
program, led to the identification of a unique eotion of compounds with broad spectrum antivicivity. Compounds with potent, naoxic
activity against a diversity of virus families atearrently being characterized with respect to argivmechanism(s) of action. Our chemi-
informatics tools are being employed to explore detbrmine structureetivity relationships within the lead compoundiegrTo date, we ha
documented sulmicromolar activity of a broad spectrum antiviralndidate against viruses in the Poxviridae, Fildeie, Bunyavirida
Arenaviridae, Flaviviridae, Togaviridae, Retrovaeland Picornaviridae families. Lead series aneghassessed with respect to the meche

of antiviral action, formulated for testingn vivo , and administered by multiple routes and dosirgimmens to those small animal spe
traditionally used for modeling the pathogenesi€afegory A viruses.

Market for Biological Defense Programs

The market for biodefense countermeasures is dzeall very active in light of awareness of the#tof global terror and biowarf:
activity. The U.S. government is a lead source oflgwide biodefense spending. U.S. government spgnah biodefense programs inclu
development funding awarded by NIAID, BARDA and thepartment of Defense (“DoD”gnd procurement of countermeasures by t
CDC and DoD. The U.S. government is the largestcgoaf development and procurement funding for enad institutions and biotechnolc
companies conducting biodefense research or dangla@accines, antinfectives and immunotherapies directed at poteatients of bioterr
or biowarfare.

Project BioShield, which became law in 2004, auttes the procurement of countermeasures for bicddgthemical, radiological a
nuclear attacks for the Strategic Stockpile, whgla national repository of medical assets and tworeasures designed to provide fed
state and local public health agencies with medscgiplies needed to treat and protect those affdayeterrorist attacks, natural disast
industrial accidents and other public health emaeges. Project BioShield provided appropriations$sf6 billion to be expended over
years. The Pandemic and -Hazards Preparedness Act (the “Preparedness Astidblished BARDA as the agency responsible foraivwg
procurement contracts for biomedical countermeasarel providing development funding for advanceseaech and development in
biodefense arena. The Preparedness Act supplerntentieinding available under Project BioShield fadipblogical, nuclear, chemical
biological countermeasures, and emerging infectidisease threats. Advanced development fundingB#RDA is created by annt
appropriations by Congress. Congress also appteprannual funding for CDC for the procurement efdinal assets and countermeasure
the Strategic Stockpile and for NIAID to conducbdiéfense research. This appropriation funding supehts amounts available under Pre
BioShield.

In addition to the U.S. government, we believe tbtiter potential additional markets for the saleb@fdefense countermeast
include:

« foreign governments, including both defense andiptigalth agencie

« state and local governments, which we expect mantbeested in these products to protect, amongrstlemergency respond:
such as police, fire and emergency medical perdpnne

e nongovernmental organizations and multinational congmrincluding transportation and security compsirée

* healthcare providers, including hospitals and c#i
Manufacturing

We use third parties known as Commercial ManufamguOrganizations (“CMOs"jor the procurement of commercial raw mate
and supplies, and for the manufacturing of BB All of our CMOs certify that the methods, fdi@s and controls used for manufactur
processing, packaging and holding pharmaceutiaatdoem to current good manufacturing practices (¢d8@Mhe standard set by FDA
manufacture of pharmaceuticals intended for hunsan u
Technology

Antiviral Technology: Two Approaches

We have two approaches to the discovery and dewwlop of new antiviral compounds: high-throughputesaing (“HTS”) anc
rational drug design. For HTS, we use whole cellviinhibition assays, pseudotype virus inhibitassays and validated target biochen
assays. We currently have anhiause library of 260,000 small molecule compouhas tay be used for screening in these variouysss$ais

strategy allows for both target-specific and tangetitral screening and identification
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of novel antiviral compounds. Compounds are alseested for toxicity in various cell lines to devela therapeutic index (“TI"\which is th
ratio of the concentration at which the compountbisc to 50% of the cells (CC50) and the concdittraof compound required to inhibit 5(
of the virus (EC50) (TI = CC50/EC50). Compoundshman acceptable Tl are selected for chemical opétitn and proceed into the antiv
drug development pipeline.

We use rational drug design to model structurevigtrelationships and facilitate lead optimizatiohcompounds of interest.
Collaborative Research Agreements

We obtain funding in the form of grants or contsa@ihdividually, “Grant,” and collectively, “Grarifs from various agencies of t
U.S. government to support our research and dereapactivities. Since inception, we have recoghi247.5 million of revenue from Gra
currently active or expired during the year. Cutlygrwe have four active Grants with varying exgima dates through July 2016 that proy
for potential future aggregate research and dewsdmp funding for specific projects of approximat&®5.3 million, as amended. This amc
includes, among other things, options that may ay mot be exercised at the U.S. governngedicretion. The Grants contain customary t
and conditions and include the U.S. governneeright to terminate or restructure a grant fonanience at any time. We have entered int
following collaborative research arrangements antracts:

National Institutes of Health . The following Grants awarded by NIH were stiltige for 2011

Smallpox antiviral drug development : In 2006, we were awarded Grants from NIH totalegproximately $21 million for tt
continued development of SH6. In 2008, we were awarded a $55.1 million Griaom NIH to support the development of additic
formulations and orthopox-related indications far-&16. In 2008, we were awarded $20.0 million fronHNInder an existing $16.5 milli
Grant. In August 2011, these Grants were restradtand transferred to BARDA so that $14.0 millioasneligible to cover performar
through February 2013.

In September 2009, we received a three-year, $8li@mPhase 1l Grant from NIH to fund the contirudevelopment of SP46 fol
the treatment of smallpox vaccine-related advevsats.

In total, as of December 31, 2011, approximately.@illion is available to us under the aforemem¢id funding opportunities.

Anti-arenavirus drug development : In August 2011, we received ayBar Grant of $7.7 million from NIH to continue fling for the
development of antiviral drugs for Lassa fever sirs of December 31, 2011, there is $7.3 milligailable under this Grant.

Dengue antiviral drug development : In May 2011, we received aygar Grant of $6.5 million from NIH to continue filing for the
development of antiviral drugs for dengue. As otB&mber 31, 2011, there is $5.0 million availabldemthis Grant.

Broad spectrum antiviral drug development : In September 2009, we were awardedyear, $1.7 million Grant from NIAID to supp:
the development of broad-spectrum, smmadllecule inhibitors of bunyaviruses. The Grant wasrded under the American Recovery
Reinvestment Act of 2009 (the “Recovery AcfThis Grant concluded in August 2011; as of Decender2011, there are no remaining fu
available for the development of the drug undes @Giant.

Defense Threat Reduction Agency In February 2010, we were awarded a $2.9 milBsant with options for up to $9.9 million frc
DTRA to support the pretinical development and IND filing of a broad sprem antiviral drug candidate. This award conclugredpril 2011
consequently, as of December 31, 2011, there aremaining funds available under this Grant.

We receive cash payments from NIH for Grants onoathly basis, as services are performed or googlgparchased. Our curr
Grants do not include milestone payments. The Gagntements can be cancelled for penformance and, if cancelled, we will not rec
funds for additional future work under the agreetsen

For a discussion of research and development egpesse Item 7, “ManagemenDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condi
and Results of Operations.”
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Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries craracterized by rapidly evolving technology antemse competition. O
competitors include most of the major pharmaceltompanies, each of which has financial, technécad marketing resources significal
greater than ours. In addition, biotechnology atigeopharmaceutical competitors include, but arelindted to, Sanofi Pasteur SA (forme
Acambis), Bavarian Nordic AS, Chimerix Inc. and Egent BioSolutions. Academic institutions, govermta agencies and other public .
private research organizations are also conductisgarch activities and seeking patent protectimhraay commercialize products on tl
own or through joint ventures.

Our biodefense product candidates face significantpetition for U.S. government funding for bottvelepment and procurement
medical countermeasures for biological, chemiealialogical and nuclear threats, diagnostic testygiems and other emergency prepare:
countermeasures.

Our commercial opportunities could be reduced oniehted if our competitors develop and commerz@lproducts that are sa
more effective, have fewer side effects, are moresenient or are less expensive than productsiteahay develop. In addition, we may no
able to compete effectively if our product candédatio not satisfy government procurement requirésnearticularly requirements of the L
government with respect to biodefense products.

Human Resources and Research Facilities

As of February 1, 2012, we had 68 ftithe employees. None of our employees is covered bgllective bargaining agreement,
we consider our employee relations to be good. @search and development facilities are locate@anvallis, Oregon, where we lei
approximately 32,800 square feet under a leasesagmet signed in January 2007, as amended in May, 200 which expires in Decem
2017.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our commercial success will depend in part on dailita to obtain and maintain patent protection farr proprietary technologi¢
drug targets and potential products and to effebtipreserve our trade secrets. Because of théasulad length of time and expense assoc
with bringing potential products through the deypehent and regulatory clearance processes to rdecimarketplace, the pharmaceu
industry places considerable importance on obtginiatent and trade secret protection. The patesitipos of pharmaceutical a
biotechnology companies can be highly uncertainiamolve complex legal and factual questions. Nosistent policy regarding the breadtl
claims allowed in biotechnology patents has emetgedate. Accordingly, we cannot predict the typel &xtent of claims allowed in the
patents.

We are exclusive owner of 8 U.S. patents. We ae eXclusive owner of 1 U.S. provisional patentliapfions, 18 U.S. utility pate
applications, 4 international PCT patent applicagiand 127 foreign patent applications.
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The following are our patent positions as of Decengii, 2011:

Number
PATENTS Owned by Patent Expiration Dates
SIGA
u.s. 8 2024 (1), 2026 (1), 2027 (3), 2028 (2R201)
South Africa 5 2027(2), 2028 (2), 2029 (1)
OAPI (African Intellectual Property
Organization) 5 2027(2), 2028 (2), 2029 (1)
Number
APPLICATIONS Owned by
SIGA
U.S. applications 18
U.S. provisionals 1
PCT 4
Australia 10
Canada 15
Europe 15
Japan 14
Mexico 8
South Africa 5
ARIPO (African Regional Intellectual Property
Organization) 9
OAPI 5
All Other Jurisdictions 46

We also rely upon trade secret protection for oomfidential and proprietary information. No assu@rcan be given that otl
companies will not independently develop substdnterjuivalent proprietary information and techréguor otherwise gain access to our t
secrets or that we can meaningfully protect owdrsecrets.

FDA regulations require that patented drugs be saolder brand names that comply with various regaiat We must develop a
make efforts to protect these brand names for e&dur products in order to avoid product piracyl @ecure exclusive rights to these bi
names. We may expend substantial funds in devejopimd securing rights to adequate brand namesuopmducts. We currently ha
proprietary trademark rights in SIGA®, ST-24&®d other brands used by us in the United Statdscartain foreign countries, but we n
have to develop additional trademark rights in otdecomply with regulatory requirements. We coesidecuring adequate trademark righ
be important to our business.

Government Regulation

Regulatory Approval Process.Regulation by governmental authorities in the WhiBtates and other countries is a significant f
in the production and marketing of any biopharmécealiproduct that we may develop. The nature dedextent to which such regulati
may apply to us will vary depending on the natufe@my such product. Virtually all of our potentiglopharmaceutical products will regt
regulatory approval by governmental agencies prwonongovernmental commercialization. In particular, huantherapeutic products ¢
subject to rigorous prelinical and clinical testing and other approvabgedures by FDA and similar health authoritiesdrefgn countrie:
Various federal statutes and regulations also goweerinfluence the manufacturing, safety, labelisigprage, record keeping and marketin
such products. The process of obtaining these apfgrand the subsequent compliance with appropfederal and foreign statutes
regulations requires the expenditure of substarggdurces.

In order to test clinically, produce and marketdarcts for diagnostic or therapeutic use, a compangt comply with mandato
procedures and safety standards established bydfidAcomparable agencies in foreign countries. Befeginning human clinical testing ¢
potential new drug in the United States, a compagt file an IND application and receive clearafroen FDA. An IND application is
summary of the pre-clinical studies that were cateld to characterize the drug, including toxicitylsafety studies, information on the diug’
composition and the manufacturing and quality adrgrocedures used to

7




Table of Contents

produce the drug, as well as an in-depth discussitime human clinical studies that are being psego

The pre-marketing clinical program required for egy@al by FDA for a new drug typically involves ane-consuming and costly three-
phase process. In Phase |, trials are conductddansimall number of healthy subjects to deterntieeciarly safety profile, the pattern of d
distribution, metabolism and elimination. In Phéisérials are conducted with small groups of patseafflicted with a target disease in orde
determine preliminary efficacy, optimal dosages amganded evidence of safety. In Phase lll, lagdes multi center comparative tri
which may include both controlled and uncontrolitddies, are conducted with patients afflicted vétiarget disease in order to pro
enough data for statistical proof of efficacy aatety required by FDA and others.

FDA closely monitors the progress of each of thegtphases of clinical testing and may, in itsréison, reevaluate, alter, suspen
terminate the testing based on the data that hexs decumulated to that point and its assessmeheafsk/benefit ratio to the patients invol
in the testing. Estimates of the total time typicakquired for carrying out such clinical testingry between two and ten years. U
completion of such clinical testing, a company ¢ally submits a New Drug Application (“NDA™o FDA that summarizes the results
observations of the drug during the clinical tegtiBased on its review of the NDA, FDA will decidénether to approve the drug. This rev
process can be quite lengthy, and approval fopthduction and marketing of a new pharmaceuticatlpct can require a number of years
substantial funding; there can be no assurancettyaapproval will be granted on a timely basistiéll.

FDA amended its regulations, effective June 302200 include the “animal rulehereby certain new drug and biological prod
used to reduce or prevent the toxicity of chemib@ogical, radiological, or nuclear agents ndtestvise naturally present in circumstar
that would permit the typical clinical testing regt may be approved for use in humans based onreédef safety in healthy subjects
evidence of effectiveness derived only from appaipranimal studies and any additional supportintadWe anticipate that we will se
approval for therapeutic use of ST-246 using thiahrule.

Once the product is approved for sale, FDA regaitetigovern the production process and marketingites, and a postrarketing
testing and surveillance program may be requiremidaitor a producs usage and effects. Product approvals may be saithdif complianc
with regulatory standards is not maintained. Matheocountries in which products developed by ug beamarketed impose similar regulat
processes.

FDA regulations also make available an alternategulatory mechanism that may lead to approval uhidédted circumstances. T
Emergency Use Authorization authority allows theA-Dommissioner to strengthen the public healthgmtidns against biological, chemic
radiological and nuclear agents that may be usedttaxk the American people or the U.S. armed ®orténder this authority, the FL
Commissioner may allow medical countermeasure®toded in an emergency to diagnose, treat or preeeious or lifethreatening diseas
or conditions caused by such agents when appregiiatings are made concerning the nature of thergemcy, the availability of adequate
approved alternatives and the quality of availaladea concerning the drug candidate under considarfiir emergency use. We have provi
data to FDA to support an Emergency Use Authoirafbor ST-246 in the event of a smallpox attack.

Legislation and Regulation Related to BioterrorismCounteragents and Pandemic Preparednes®ecause some of our di
candidates are intended for the treatment of désetieat may result from acts of bioterrorism omi@Edare or for pandemic preparedness,
may be subject to the specific legislation and k&tipn described below and elsewhere in this AniRegport on Form 10-K.

Project BioShield. Project BioShield and related 2006 federal legstaprovide procedures for biodefensdated procurement a
awarding of research grants, making it easier fefSHo commit funds to countermeasure projects.etoBioShield provides alternat
procedures under the Federal Acquisition Regulatiba general rubric for acquisition of material the U.S. government, for procur
property or services used in performing, administgor supporting biomedical countermeasure reseant development. In addition, if -
Secretary of HHS deems that there is a pressind, i¥eject BioShield authorizes the Secretary ®ars expedited award process, rather
the normal peer review process, for grants, cotdrand cooperative agreements related to biomedioahtermeasure research
development activity.

Under Project BioShield, the Secretary of HHS, wifih concurrence of the Secretary of the DepartrnEhtomeland Security al
upon the approval of the President, can contraputehase unapproved countermeasures for the @tr&&ckpile in specified circumstanc
Congress is notified of a recommendation for at8gia Stockpile purchase after Presidential apgrdveoject BioShield specifies tha
company supplying the countermeasure to the Statigckpile is paid on delivery of a substantiaktipn of the countermeasure. To
eligible for purchase under these provisions, ther&ary of HHS must determine that there are dafft and satisfactory clinical results
research data, including data, if available, frae@inical and clinical

8




Table of Contents

trials, to support a reasonable conclusion thattmtermeasure will qualify for approval or licemswithin eight years. Project BioShield ¢
allows the Secretary of HHS to authorize the emmrgeaise of medical products that have not yet tsggroved by FDA. To exercise t
authority, the Secretary of HHS must conclude that:

» the agent for which the countermeasure is desigran cause serious or lifereatening diseas

« the product may reasonably be believed to be éffeat detecting, diagnosing, treating or prevegtine diseas

« the known and potential benefits of the productveigh its known and potential risks; ¢

« there is no adequate alternative to a productishegpproved and availab

Although this provision permits the Secretary of $litb entirely, or in part, circumvent FDA appro¥ai marketing, its use in tf
manner would likely be limited to rare circumstasicEhe Secretary of HHS concluded that BB will qualify within eight years for approy
by FDA for therapeutic use against smallpox prioatvard of the BARDA Contract in May 2011.

Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness Adthe Public Readiness and Emergency PreparednessrARREP Act, providt
immunity for manufacturers from claims under statefederal law for “loss” arising out of the adnstration or use of acbvere
countermeasure.” However, injured persons maylstifig a suit for “willful misconduct’against the manufacturer under some circumste
“Covered countermeasures” include security countasures and “qualified pandemic or epidemic pra&iuecicluding products intended
diagnose or treat pandemic or epidemic diseasayedisas treatments intended to address conditiensed by such products. For tt
immunities to apply, the Secretary of HHS must ésaudeclaration in cases of public health emergencigredible risk”of a future publi
health emergency. Since 2007, the Secretary of hhtSssued 8 declarations under the PREP Act tegrfxom liability countermeasures t
are necessary to prepare the nation for potergiatipmics or epidemics, including a declaration atofer 10, 2008 that provides immui
from tort liability as it relates to smallpox coenmeasures.

Foreign Regulation. As noted above, in addition to regulations in theitel States, we might be subject to a variety avéifyr
regulations governing clinical trials and commersies and distribution of our drug candidatesetiar or not we obtain FDA approval fc
product, we may have to obtain approval of a prodycthe comparable regulatory authorities of fgnecountries before we can comme
clinical trials or marketing of the product in tosountries. The actual time required to obtairareace to market a product in a partic
foreign jurisdiction may vary substantially, basagon the type, complexity and novelty of the pharengical drug candidate, the spec
requirements of that jurisdiction, and in some ddaa whether FDA has previously approved the dimgmarketing. The requiremel
governing the conduct of clinical trials, marketiagthorization, pricing and reimbursement vary froountry to country. Certain forei
jurisdictions, including the European Union, hawmpted biodefen«-specific regulation akin to that available in thaitdd States such a
procedure similar to the “animal rule” promulgatadFDA.

Regulations Regarding Government ContractingThe status of an organization as a government &chotr in the United States ¢
elsewhere means that the organization is also slutgjevarious statutes and regulations, includimg Federal Acquisition Regulation, wh
governs the procurement of goods and services bgcies of the United States. These governing ststamd regulations can impose stri
penalties than those normally applicable to commkoontracts, such as criminal and civil damagahility and suspension and debarn
from future government contracting. In additionrguant to various statutes and regulations, govenmrmontracts can be subject to unilas
termination or modification by the government f@angenience in the United States and elsewhereil@tbt@uditing requirements, statuto
controlled pricing, sourcing and subcontractindrieions and statutorily mandated processes fudacating contract disputes.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports xgretatements, and other documents with the Séesidind Exchange Commiss
(“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 198 (‘Exchange Act”)The public may read and copy any material thatileenfith the SE(
at the SECS Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wagthin D.C. 20549. The public may obtain informatamthe operation of tl
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (80BL-8330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet websigg tontains reports, proxy ¢
information statements, and other information rdgay issuers, including us, that file electronigaMlith the SEC. The public can obtain .
document that we file with or furnish to the SEGvatw.sec.gov.

In addition, our Company website can be found @nlttternet at www.siga.com. The website contaifigrination about us and ¢
operations. Copies of each of our filings with 8 C on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and FornK8and all amendments to those reports, c:
viewed and downloaded free of charge as soon asmahly practicable after the reports and amendsnent
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are electronically filed with or furnished to th&GS. To view the reports, access www.siga.com, dicK'Investor Relations” andFinancia
Information.”

The following corporate governance related docusare also available on our website:

¢ Audit Committee Charte

« Compensation Committee Char

¢ Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee €h

¢ Code of Ethics and Business Cond

¢ Procedure for Sending Communications to the Bo&firectors

* Procedures for Security Holder Submission of NottimgaRecommendations; a

e 2004 Policy on Confidentiality of Information ané&rities Trading

To review these documents, access www.siga.contlakdon “Investor Relations” and “Corporate Govance.”

Any of the above documents can also be obtainguiiih by any shareholder upon request to the SareSIGA Technologies, Inc., 35 Eas!
nd Street, New York, New York 10065.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

This report contains forward-looking statements atiter prospective information relating to futuneeets. These forwartboking
statements and other information are subject i@ @d uncertainties that could cause our actsalteeto differ materially from our historic

results or currently anticipated results includihg following:

Risks Related to Our Dependence on U.S. Governme@bntracts and Grants

We currently expect to derive substantially all @fir foreseeable future revenue from sales of 346 under the BARDA Contract in additic
to Grants from various agencies of the U.S. goveem If BARDA demand for ST246 is reduced, our business, financial conditiomd
operating results could be materially harmed.

Our BARDA Contract does not necessarily increase likelihood that we will secure future comparabltentracts with the U.
government. The success of our business and ouvatoperesults for the foreseeable future are suihistlly dependent on the terms of the ST-
246 sales to the U.S. government, including primegourse, the number and size of doses in a canséhe timing of deliveries.

Furthermore, substantially all of our revenuestfar years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 28§8atively, were derived frc
Grants other than the BARDA Contract. Our currevtenue is primarily derived from contract work lgeiperformed for NIH and BARD
under grants and one major contract scheduledpesin February 2013. There can be no assuraratent will receive the revenue from
BARDA Contract in the time periods we anticipateabrall, or that we will be able to secure futuna@s. Failure to receive such revenu
secure such Grants could have an adverse effemtroresults of operations.

The pricing under our fixedprice government Grants is based on estimates &f time, resources and expenses required to perfenese
Grants. If our estimates are not accurate, we mayt be able to earn an adequate return or may in@loss under these Grants.

Our existing contract with BARDA for the supply 8fT-246 includes fixegrice components. We expect that our future Greitts
the U.S. government for ST-246 as well as Grantsbfodefense product candidates that we succegdfeNelop also may be fixeukice
Grants. Under a fixegrice Grant, we are required to deliver our prodwatta fixed price regardless of the actual cogtsnour and to absc
any cost in excess of the fixed price. Estimatingts that are related to performance in accordavitte Grant specifications is difficu
particularly where the period of performance isroseveral years. Our failure to anticipate technprablems, estimate costs accuratel
control costs during performance of a fixed-priaeu@ could reduce the profitability of a fixguice Grant or cause a loss, which could in



harm our operating results.
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Our U.S. government Grants require ongoing fundirdgcisions by the government. Reduced or discontthfiending of these Grants cou
cause our financial condition and operating results suffer materially.

Our principal customer for SZ46 at the present time is the U.S. governmentawWieipate that the U.S. government will also be
principal customer for any other biodefense prodiat we successfully develop. Over its lifetimé).&. government program, such as Pr
BioShield, may be implemented through the awardnahy different individual grants, contracts and cautiracts. The funding of sol
government programs is subject to Congressionalogpiations, generally made on a fiscal year bagen though a program may continue
several years. Our government customers are subjgudlitical considerations and stringent budgetaonstraints. Additionally, government-
funded development grants and contracts typicatlpsist of a base period of performance followed dogcessive option periods
performance of certain future activities. The vahfethese optional services, which options are @sgable in the sole discretion of
government, may constitute the majority of theltetgdue of the underlyingontract. If levels of government expenditures aathorizations fc
biodefense decrease or shift to programs in ardesemwe do not offer products or are not develogingduct candidates, our busin
revenues and operating results may suffer.

Our future business may be harmed as a result of tiovernment contracting process, which can be apetitive bidding process that m
involve risks not present in the commercial conttengy process.

We expect that a significant portion of the busindgmt we will seek in the near future will be undevernment grants, contracts
subcontracts, which may be awarded through conneetiidding. Competitive bidding for government Gts presents a number of risks
are not typically present in the commercial contrecprocess, which may include:

* the need to devote substantial time and attertfonanagement and key employees to the preparatibids and proposals for
Grants that may not be awarded to us;

« the need to accurately estimate the resources astdstructure that will be required to perform aagant that we might t
awarded;

« the risk that the government will issue a requespfoposal to which we would not be eligible tegend

» the risk that third parties may submit protestsuo responses to requests for proposal that cesldtrin delays or withdrawals
those requests for proposal; and

« the expenses that we might incur and the delaysatbanight suffer if our competitors protest or ibdwage contract awards me
to us pursuant to competitive bidding, and the tigkt any such protest or challenge could resutiénresubmission of bids ba:
on modified specifications, or in termination, retlan or modification of the awarded Grant.

The U.S. government may choose to award future t&ifan the supply of smallpox antivirus and othexdefense product candida
that we are developing to our competitors instefao as. If we are unable to win particular Grantg, may not be able to operate in the m:
for products that are provided under those Gramtsafnumber of years. For example, BARBA009 request for proposal with resper
acquisition of a smallpox antiviral was open toalhlifying small businesses for which we were dateed not to qualify. If we are unable
consistently obtain new Grants over an extendeigeor if we fail to anticipate all of the costadaresources that will be required to se
such Grants, our growth strategy and our busirigss)cial condition, and operating results couldeterially adversely affected.

The success of our business with the U.S. governtméepends on our compliance with regulations andlightions under our U.S
government Grants and various federal statutes aedulations.

Our business with the U.S. government is subjectgecific procurement regulations and a varietyotifer legal compliant
obligations. These laws and rules include thoseedlto:
e procurement integrit

e export control

e government security regulatio
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In addition, before awarding us any Grant, the d&ernment could require that we respond satisféigtto a request to substanti
our commercial viability and industrial capabilgiesCompliance with these obligations increasespeuiormance and compliance costs. Fa
to comply with these regulations and requiremerdsld lead to suspension or debarment, for caugen fgovernment contracting
subcontracting for a period of time. The terminatif a government Grant or relationship as a resuttur failure to satisfy any of the
obligations would have a negative impact on ourraf@ens and harm our reputation and ability to precother government Grants in

future.

Unfavorable provisions in government Grants, somewvehich may be customary, may harm our future busis, financial condition an

employment practice

protection of the environme

accuracy of records and the recording of costs

foreign corrupt practice

potential operating results

Government Grants customarily contain provisioret tive the government substantial rights and réaseanany of which are r

typically found in commercial contracts, includipgovisions that allow the government to:

Generally, government Grants contain provisionsmiting unilateral termination or modification, iwhole or in part, at tt

terminate existing Grants, in whole or in part, &0y reason or no reas

unilaterally reduce or modify grants, contractsabcontracts, including through the use of equétgibice adjustment

cancel multiyear Grants and related orders if funds for perforoe for any subsequent year become unavai

decline to exercise an option to renew a G

exercise an option to purchase only the minimumuwarhspecified in a Grat

decline to exercise an option to purchase the maximmount specified in a Gra

claim rights to products, including intellectuabperty, developed under a Gr:

take actions that result in a longer developmengline than expecte

direct the course of a development program in an@anot chosen by the government contra

suspend or debar the contractor from doing busiwéibsthe government or a specific government ags

pursue criminal or civil remedies under the Faltsir@s Act and False Statements Act;

control or prohibit the export of produc



governmen® convenience. Under general principles of govemnuontracting law, if the government terminatesGeant fo
convenience, the terminated company may recoveritmincurred or committed costs, settlement espsrand profit on work completed p
to the termination.

If the government terminates a Grant for defablk, defaulting company is entitled to recover castsrred and associated profits
accepted items only and may be liable for excesssdacurred by the government in procuring undgbd items from another source.
government Grants, including the BARDA Contractuldobe terminated under these circumstances. Samergment Grants permit t
government the right to use, for or on behalf &f thS. government, any technologies developed égdmtractor under a government Grar
we were to develop technology under a Grant witthsa provision, we might not be able to prohibitdtparties, including our competito
from using that technology in providing productsi @ervices to the government.

12




Table of Contents

Political or social factors, including related ligiation, may delay or impair ouiability to market ST246 and our biodefense prodt
candidates and may require us to spend time and Byto address these issues.

Products developed to treat diseases caused bycontbat the threat of bioterrorism or biowarfaii# e subject to changing politic
and social environments. The political and so@aponses to bioterrorism and biowarfare have bigryhcharged and unpredictable. Polit
or social pressures or changes in the perceptidheofisk that military personnel or civilians cdule exposed to biological agents as wea
of bioterrorism or biowarfare may delay or caussstance to bringing our products to market ortlipricing or purchases of our products,
of which would harm our business.

In addition, substantial delays or cancellationgofchases could result from protests or challeriges third parties. Furthermo
lawsuits brought against us by third parties suElacivists, even if not successful, require usgend time and money defending the rel
litigation. The need to address political and slassues may divert our management’s time and @dtefrom other business concerns.

Additional lawsuits, publicity campaigns or othezgative publicity may adversely affect the degréenarket acceptance of,
thereby limit the demand for, SA46 and our biodefense product candidates. In sueht, our ability to market and sell such produnty b
hindered and the commercial success of ST-246 et products we develop will be harmed, therelojicang our revenues.

Risks Related to Product Development

Our business depends significantly on our succassompleting development and commercialization ofig candidates that are still und
development. If we are unable to commercialize theBug candidates, or experience significant deldagsdoing so, our business will |
materially harmed.

We have invested a substantial majority of ourrtdfand financial resources in the developmentunfdoug candidates. Our ability
generate near-term revenue is particularly deperatethe success of our smallpox antiviral drugdidate ST246. The commercial succes:
our drug candidates will depend on many factorduting:

« successful development, formulation and cGMResgp of drug manufacturing that meets FDA requirers;

« successful development of animal moc

» successful completion of natinical development, including studies in approasimal model:

< our ability to pay the expense of filing, prosengtidefending and enforcing patent claims and dtiteHectual property right

* successful completion of clinical trig

» receipt of marketing approvals from FDA and simftareign regulatory authoritie

» establishing commercial manufacturing processesipbwn or arrangements on reasonable terms wiitraoct manufacturel

« manufacturing stable commercial supplies of drugdadates, including availability of raw materii

« launching commercial sales of the product, whe#theme or in collaboration with others; ¢

» acceptance of the product by potential governmenstotners, physicians, patients, healthcare paywdsothers in the medic
community.

We expect to rely on FDA regulations known as taeirhal rule”to obtain approval for certain of our biodefensegdcandidates. TI
animal rule permits the use of animal efficacy stadogether with human clinical safety trials tggort an application for marketing appro
These regulations are relatively new, and both ne the government have limited experience in thgliegtion of these rules to the di
candidates that we are developing. It is posshdé tesults from these animal efficacy studies matybe predictive of the actual efficacy of
drug candidates in humans. If we are not successftbmpleting the development and commercializatié our drug candidates, whether
to our efforts or due to concerns raised by ourgomental regulators or customers, our businedsl teuharmed.
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We will not be able to commercialize our drug caddtes if our preelinical development efforts are not successful,ratlinical trials do not
demonstrate safety or our clinical trials or animatudies do not demonstrate efficacy.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdl@ar drug candidates, we must conduct extensieeclmical development, clinic
trials to demonstrate the safety of our drug caaugisl and clinical or animal trials to demonstrhtedfficacy of our drug candidates. Riical
and clinical testing is expensive, difficult to @esand implement, can take many years to completeis uncertain as to outcome. Succe
pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does restsure that later clinical trials or animal effigastudies will be successful, and inte
results of a clinical trial or animal efficacy sjudo not necessarily predict final results.

A failure of one or more of our clinical trials animal efficacy studies can occur at any stagestfrig. We may experience numel
unforeseen events during, or as a result of cpnécal testing and the clinical trial or animdfieacy study process that could delay or pre
our ability to receive regulatory approval or commai@ize our drug candidates, including:

* regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us to commence a clinical trial or condactinical trial at a prospecti
trial site;

« we may decide, or regulators may require usptaluct additional prehinical testing or clinical trials, or we may alakom project
that we expect to be promising, if our pi@ical tests, clinical trials or animal efficasyudies produce negative or inconclu
results;

* we might have to suspend or terminate our clintigals if the participants are being exposed tocaeatable health risk

e regulators or institutional review boards maguiee that we hold, suspend or terminate cliniealelopment for various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirengent

« the cost of our clinical trials could escalate &edome cost prohibitiv

« our governmental regulators may impose requirgmen clinical trials, pretinical trials or animal efficacy studies that w&nno
meet or that may prohibit or limit our ability te@gorm or complete the necessary testing in oml@btain regulatory approval;

e any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain nieylimited or subject to restrictions or pagiproval commitments that render
product not commercially viable;

e we may not be successful in recruiting a sufficiminber of qualifying subjects for our clinicalds; an

« the effects of our drug candidates may not be #sireld effects or may include undesirable sidecedfer the drug candidates n
have other unexpected characteristics.

We are in various stages of product development #mete can be no assurance of successful commeizédion.

In general, our research and development prograenatean early stage of development. To obtain Fipproval for our biodefen
products, we will be required to obtain adequat®pof efficacy from at least one animal model @nolvide animal and human safety data.
other products will be subject to the usual FDAulatpry requirements, which include a number ofgaiseof testing in humans.

FDA has not approved any of our biopharmaceuticatpct candidates. Any drug candidate we develdp refjuire significar
additional research and development efforts, inolyiéxtensive prelinical and clinical testing and regulatory appbwrior to commerci
sale. We cannot be sure our approach to drug disgowill be effective or will result in the succédscommercialization of any drug. V
cannot predict with certainty whether any drug tasg from our research and development effortd s commercially available within t
next several years, or if they will be availablett

Even if we receive initially positive preinical or clinical results, such results do nagan that similar results will be obtained in |
stages of drug development, such as additionatlgmeal testing or human clinical trials. All ofuo potential drug candidates are prone tc
risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutical proddetelopment, including the possibility that nofi@or drug candidates will or can:
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* be safe, nomexic and effective

« otherwise meet applicable regulatory stand:

* receive the necessary regulatory appro

e develop into commercially viable dru

e be manufactured or produced economically and amgelscale

*  be successfully markete

* be paid for by governmental procurers or be reirsbdiby governmental or private insurers;

« achieve customer acceptar

In addition, third parties may preclude us from keding our drugs through enforcement of their pietary rights that we are r
aware of, or third parties may succeed in markegigqgivalent or superior drug products. Our failirelevelop safe, commercially viable dr

would have a material adverse effect on our busijrfesancial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Commercialization

Our ability to grow our business depends signifidgnon our ability to achieve sales of ST-246 tostomers other than the U.S. government.

An element of our business strategy is to sell286-to customers other than the U.S. governmergsé Ipotential customers inclt
foreign governments and state and local governmaste/ell as nogovernmental organizations focused on global hd#dhthe World Healt
Organization, health care institutions like hodpif@omestic and foreign) and certain large busireganizations interested in protecting 1
employees against global threats. Some of thespalt customers may wish to stockpile 246 in order to protect emergency respor
such as police, fire and emergency medical perdpasevell as members of the general populace mvitieir jurisdictions.

The market for sales of SJ46 to customers other than the U.S. governmenmn@eveloped, and we may not be successi
generating meaningful sales of ST-246, if anyhtse potential customers.

Governmental regulations may make it difficult fos to achieve significant sales of 846 to customers other than the |
government. For example, federal and foreign rdgula usually require approval of the drug underagelly applicable food and drug laws
waivers of such approval before these customers pnagure the drug. Additionally, federal laws plaaious restrictions on the export
drugs that are not FDA-approved or that have pikbtodefenseelated uses. These restrictions are subject togehas global conditio
change. These restrictions and other regulationslrag sales could limit our sales of %6 to foreign governments and other for:
customers. In addition, U.S. government deman&fe246 may limit supplies of ST-246 available falesto non-U.S. government customers.

If we fail to significantly increase our sales oF-346 to customers other than the U.S. governmemntbasiness and opportunities
growth could be materially limited.

Because we must obtain regulatory clearance or othise operate under strict legal requirements inder to test and market our products
the U.S., we cannot predict whether or when we Wil permitted to commercialize our products othiean through the BARDA Contract.

Except with respect to sales to BARDA undenjéut BioShield, pharmaceutical products cannoegaty be marketed in the U.S. until ti
have has completed rigorous miéical testing and clinical trials and an extemsiregulatory clearance process implemented by
Pharmaceutical products typically take many yearsdtisfy regulatory requirements and require tkperditure of substantial resour
depending on the type, complexity and novelty efphoduct and its intended use.

Before commencing clinical trials in humans, we msisbmit and receive clearance from FDA by meansrofiND applicatior
Institutional review boards and FDA oversee clihtdals and such trials:
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* must be conducted in conformance with FDA regutet
* must meet requirements for institutional review rdoaversight
e must meet requirements for informed cons
« must meet requirements for good clinical and mastufing practice:
e are subject to continuing FDA oversi¢
* may require large numbers of test subjects

« may be suspended by us or FDA at any time if ibaeved that the subjects participating in thegsdst are being exposed
unacceptable health risks or if FDA finds deficiesdn our IND application or the conduct of thésals.

Before receiving FDA clearance to market a produi¢he absence of a medical or public health enterggewve must demonstrate t
the product is safe and effective on the patiepufation that will be treated. Data we obtain frpne-clinical and clinical activities and frc
animal models are susceptible to varying interpiata that could delay, limit or prevent regulatafgarances. Additionally, we have limi
experience in conducting and managing thedtireeal and clinical trials and animal efficacyudtes and manufacturing processes necess
obtain regulatory clearance.

If full regulatory clearance of a product is graht¢his clearance will be limited only to thosetetaand conditions for which t
product is demonstrated through clinical trialdb&safe and efficacious. We cannot ensure thatampound developed by us, alone or
others, will prove to be safe and efficacious ie-ginical or clinical trials or animal efficacy stigd and will meet all of the applica
regulatory requirements needed to receive full miamg clearance.

The biopharmaceutical market in which we competedanill compete is highly competitive.

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizedapyd and significant technological change. Ourcegs will depend on our ability
develop and apply our technologies in the desigh development of our product candidates and tdobstaand maintain a market for «
product candidates. In addition, there are manypaones, both public and private, including majoaiphaceutical and chemical compar
specialized biotechnology firms, universities arigdeo research institutions engaged in developirgymphaceutical and biotechnology produ
Many of these companies have substantially grdatancial, technical, research and developmentuiess, and human resources that
Competitors may develop products or other techriefothat are more effective than any that are bdegeloped by us or may obtain F
approval for products more rapidly than us. If veenenence commercial sales of products, we still ncostpete in the manufacturing
marketing of such products, areas in which we hravexperience. Many of these companies also havelfaeturing facilities and establist
marketing capabilities that would enable such cargsato market competing products through existimannels of distribution.

Our potential products may not be acceptable in tharket or eligible for thirdparty reimbursement resulting in a negative impamt our
future financial results.

Any product we develop may not achieve market aecee. The degree of market acceptance of anyrgbrmaucts will depend or
number of factors, including:

» the establishment and demonstration in the medaraimunity of the efficacy and safety of such prad|

« the potential advantage of such products overiagistpproaches to combating the problem intenddxtaddresse

» the cost of our products relative to their percdibdenefits; an

« payment or reimbursement policies of governnaeat thirdparty payors

Physicians, patients or the medical community inegal may not accept or utilize any product we mayelop. Our ability to gener:
revenues and income with respect to drugs, if dayeloped through the use of our technology wifledel, in part, upon the extent to wt
payment or reimbursement for the cost of such dwitise available from thirgparty payors, such as governmental suppliers ssi@ARDA,

CDC or DoD, governmental health administration atittes, private healthcare insurers, health ma@mee organizations, pharmacy ben
management companies and other organizations.-plaity payors
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are increasingly disputing the prices charged foarmaceutical products. If thiggarty payment or reimbursement was not availab
sufficient to allow profitable price levels to beamtained for drugs we develop, it could adversdfgct our business.

Product liability lawsuits could cause us to incsubstantial liabilities and require us to limit comercialization of any products that we m
develop.

We face an inherent business risk related to theadfaST246 and any other products that we successfullgldpvand the testing
our product candidates in clinical trials.

ST-246 is currently identified as a covered countesuea under a PREP Act declaration issued in OctaB@8, which provides
with immunity with respect to the manufacture, adistration or use of SP46. Under our BARDA Contract, the U.S. governmsimbulc
indemnify us against claims by third parties foatte personal injury and other damages relatedl't@4®, including reasonable litigation ¢
settlement costs, to the extent that the clainoss kesults from specified risks not covered byriaisce or caused by our grossly neglige
criminal behavior. The collection process can beglby and complicated, and there is no guarantatwe will be able to recover the
amounts from the U.S. government.

If we cannot successfully defend ourselves agdirtate claims that our product or product candidateused injuries and we are
entitled to or able to obtain indemnity by the Udgdvernment with respect to such claims, or if th&. government does not honor
indemnification obligations, we may incur substahliabilities. Regardless of merit or eventualanrhe, product liability claims may result in:

» decreased demand for any product candidate or prdlat we may develc

e injury to our reputatiol

« withdrawal of a product from the mark

« withdrawal of clinical trial participant

« costs to defend the related litigati

« substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients

* loss of revenue; ai

« the inability to commercialize any products thatmway develof

We currently have product liability insurance withverage up to a $10 million annual aggregate lanid up to $10 million p
occurrence. The amount of insurance that we cuyrdrdld may not be adequate to cover all liabititidhat may occur. Product liabil
insurance is difficult to obtain and increasingipensive. We may not be able to maintain insuraoserage at a reasonable cost and we

not be able to maintain or obtain insurance covethgt will be adequate to satisfy any liabilitatimay arise.

Additionally, a successful product liability claior series of claims brought against us could cawsestock price to fall and cot
decrease our financial resources and materiallyaawdrsely affect our business.

We may be required to perform additional clinicalals or change the labeling of our products if war others identify side effects after ¢
products are on the market, which could harm sat#fghe affected products

If we or others identify side effects after anyoof products are on the market, or if manufactugrablems occur:

e regulatory approval may be withdra\

« reformulation of our products, additional clini¢ghls or other testing or changes in labeling wf products may be requirt

« changes to or rapprovals of our manufacturing facilities may bguieed

» sales of the affected products may drop signifiga
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e our reputation in the marketplace may suffer;

» lawsuits, including class action suits, may be bhdwagainst u

Any of the above occurrences could harm or prewates of the affected products or could increagectbsts and expenses
commercializing and marketing these products.

Healthcare reform and controls on healthcare spendimay limit the price we charge for our productadthe amounts that we can se

The U.S. government and private insurers have densil ways to change, and have changed, the mianwéich healthcare servic
are provided in the U.S. Potential approaches drahges in recent years include controls on heatthspending and the creation of le
purchasing groups. In the future, the U.S. govemtnmeay institute further controls and limits on hleeare spending, including through
Medicare and Medicaid programs. These controls Bmds might affect the payments we could collecori sales of any produc
Uncertainties regarding future healthcare reforrd private market practices could adversely affaat ability to sell any of our produc
profitably in the U.S. Similar or other changeptyment systems abroad could adversely affectgorsales.

Laws and regulations governing international operahs may preclude us from developing, manufacturirrand selling certain produc
candidates outside of the United States and requiseto develop and implement costly compliance peaogs.

We have begun to expand our operations outsideeof/hited States, and we must comply with numelaus and regulations relati
to our business operations in each jurisdictiowlrich we plan to operate. The creation and impldatem of international business practi
compliance programs is costly and such programdiffreult to enforce, particularly where relianoa third parties is required.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prdsilkiny U.S. individual or business from payingedfig, or authorizing payment
offering of anything of value, directly or indirégtto any foreign official, political party or cdidate for the purpose of influencing any ac
decision of the foreign entity in order to assist tndividual or business in obtaining or retainmginess. The FCPA also obligates compi
whose securities are listed in the United Statesotoply with certain accounting provisions requirithe company to maintain books
records that accurately and fairly reflect all sactions of the corporation, including internatiosabsidiaries, and to devise and maintai
adequate system of internal accounting controlsrfi@rnational operations. The abtitbery provisions of the FCPA are enforced priryaloly
the U.S. Department of Justice. The SEC is involvét enforcement of the books and records prowisiof the FCPA.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficphrticularly in countries in which corruptionasecognized problem. In additi
the FCPA presents particular challenges in themheeutical industry, because, in many countriespitals are operated by the governir
and doctors and other hospital employees are carezldoreign officials. Certain payments to hodpita connection with clinical studies ¢
other work have been deemed to be improper paymentovernment officials and have led to FCPA ecdanent actions. In additic
biodefense companies like SIGA often sell theirdmais directly to foreign governments.

Various laws, regulations and executive orders edstrict the use and dissemination outside ofLthi#ed States, or the sharing v
certain nond.S. nationals, of information classified for naiéb security purposes, as well as certain prodamtistechnical data relating to th
products. Our expanding presence outside of theed8tates will require us to dedicate additioraburces to compliance with these laws,
these laws may preclude us from developing, maturfiag, or selling certain products and productdidates outside of the United Sta
which could limit our growth potential and increase development costs.

The failure to comply with laws governing intermatal business practices may result in substangiaalies, including suspensior
debarment from government contracting. Violationhef FCPA can result in significant civil and cnrmal penalties. Indictment alone under
FCPA can lead to suspension of the right to dormss with the U.S. government until the pendingnmdaare resolved. Conviction o
violation of the FCPA can result in longem disqualification as a governmental contracidre termination of a governmental contrac
relationship as a result of our failure to satisfyy of our obligations under laws governing intéioreal business practices would hay
negative impact on our operations and harm ourtatipm and ability to procure governmental consadthe SEC also may suspend or
issuers from trading securities on United Statehamrges for violations of the FCPA'’s accountingvisions.
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If we are unable to expand our internal sales andarketing capabilities or enter into agreements withird parties, we may be unable
generate revenue from product sales to customeleothan the U.S. governmen

To achieve commercial success for any approvedustoeve may need to further develop our own satesraarketing capabilitie
enter into collaborations with third parties aldeperform these services or outsource these furstm third parties.

We currently market and sell S#6 through a small, targeted sales and marketiogpg We plan to continue to do so and expec
we will use a similar approach for sales to the.lg@ernment of any other biodefense product categlthat we successfully develop. If
are unable to do this, we may be unable to achieveevenue goals in respect of ST-246, which cbale an adverse effect on our growth.

Risks Related to Manufacturing and Manufacturing Fetilities

Problems related to lar¢-scale commercial manufacturing could cause us telay product launches or experience shortages ajgurcts.

Manufacturing drug products, especially in largamfities, is complex. Our drug candidates requéneesal manufacturing steps,
may involve complex techniques to assure quality sufficient quantity, especially as the manufaaotyiscale increases. Our products mu:
made consistently and in compliance with a cleddfined manufacturing process. Accordingly, it3sential to be able to validate and coi
the manufacturing process to assure that it isoemible. Slight deviations anywhere in the manufacg process, including obtaini
materials, filling, labeling, packaging, storaghipping, quality control and testing, some of whilh pharmaceutical companies, incluc
SIGA, experience from time to time, may resultan failures, delay in the release of lots, prodwdalls or spoilage. Success rates can
dramatically at different stages of the manufaciyipprocess, which can lower yields and increasescti¢e may experience deviations in
manufacturing process that may take significanetand resources to resolve and, if unresolved, affagt manufacturing output and/or ca
us to fail to satisfy customer orders or contracteamitments, lead to delays in our clinical siak result in litigation or regulatory action.

If third parties do not manufacture our drug candates or products in sufficient quantities and at a@tceptable cost or in compliance w
regulatory requirements and specifications, the é®pment and commercialization of our drug candiéatcould be delayed, preventec
impaired.

We currently rely on third parties to manufacturagicandidates that we require for itevcal and clinical development, includi
ST-246. Any significant delay in obtaining adequatepmies of our drug candidates could adversely affmer ability to develop «
commercialize these drug candidates. We expectwhbaill rely on third parties for a portion of threanufacturing process for commer
supplies of drug candidates that we successfulxeldg. If our contract manufacturers are unablsdaleup production to generate enol
materials for commercial launch, the success afehmroducts may be jeopardized. Our current andipaied future dependence upon ot
for the manufacture of our drug candidates may e affect our ability to develop drug candidasesl commercialize any product t
receives regulatory approval on a timely and coitipetbasis.

We currently rely on third parties to demonstratguiatory compliance and for quality assurance wétipect to the drug candide
manufactured for us. We intend to continue to oalythese third parties for these purposes withe@sjp production of commercial supplie
drugs that we successfully develop. Manufacturegssabject to ongoing, periodic, unannounced inspedy FDA and corresponding st
and foreign agencies or their designees to enstice @mpliance with applicable regulations.

We cannot be certain that our present or futureufseturers will be able to comply with these regjolas and other FDA regulatc
requirements or similar regulatory requirementssiolet the U.S. While our Grants call for complianeéh all applicable regulato
requirements, we do not control compliance by thesaufacturers with these regulations and standdfrdge or these third parties fail
comply with applicable regulations, sanctions cobédimposed on us, which could significantly andeadely affect supplies of our di
candidates.

Our activities may involve hazardous materials, usfewvhich may subject us to environmental regulaydiabilities.

Our biopharmaceutical research and development thoee involves the controlled use of hazardous ralibactive materials a
biological waste. We are subject to federal, state local laws and regulations governing the usmufacture, storage, handling and disg
of these materials and certain waste products.ofith we believe that our safety procedures for lagndind disposing of these mater
comply with legally prescribed standards, the dékccidental contamination or injury from thesetenials cannot be completely eliminatec
the event of an accident, we could be held liabledamages, and this liability could exceed oupueses. Our research and developr
activities do not produce any unusual hazardoudymts. We
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do use small amounts of radioactive isotopes coniyneged in pharmaceutical research, which are dtarsed and disposed of in accord:
with Nuclear Regulatory Commission regulations. @eneral liability policy provides coverage up ttaal aggregate limits of $2 million ¢
coverage of $2 million per occurrence.

We believe that we are in compliance in all mategapects with applicable environmental laws aggltations and currently do |
expect to make material additional capital expemdg for environmental control facilities in theangerm. However, we may have to in
significant costs to comply with current or futevironmental laws and regulations.

Risks Related to Sales of Biodefense Products tceth).S. Government

Our business could be adversely affected by a negeaudit by the U.S. government.

U.S. government agencies such as the Defense Cowtualit Agency (the “DCAA”),routinely audit and investigate governmr
contractors. These agencies review a contracfmtformance under its Grants, cost structurecantpliance with applicable laws, regulati
and standards.

The DCAA also reviews the adequacy of, and a cotdrs compliance with, its internal control systems aoticies, including th
contractors purchasing, property, estimating, compensatichraanagement information systems. Any cost fourlgetanproperly allocated
a specific contract will not be reimbursed, whilgcls costs already reimbursed must be refundedn lawdit uncovers improper or illeg
activities, we may be subject to civil and crimipahalties and administrative sanctions, including:

* termination of contract

« forfeiture of profits

e suspension of paymer

* fines; ani

e suspension or prohibition from doing business \hith U.S. governmet

In June 2009, we became aware that we had not @ednpith certain HHS regulations requiring the sigsion of yearly audite
statements to the Office of the Inspector GenéflG”) Office of Audit Services. We submitted the requisadlits and related statement
the OIG Office of Audit Services. No enforcementi@t has been taken in this matter, but there @andassurance that no enforcement a
will be taken at some future time with respectHhis tmatter or any similar matter if similar or reld problems are uncovered at some ft
time.

Laws and regulations affecting government Grantsght make it more costly and difficult for us to scessfully conduct our busines
We must comply with numerous laws and regulati@hating to the formation, administration and perfance of government Grar
which can make it more difficult for us to retaioraights under these contracts. These laws andatgns affect how we do business v

federal, state and local governmental agencies.mntiee most significant government contracting tatipns that affect our business are:

« the Federal Acquisition Regulation and othemagespecific regulations supplemental to the Fdd&cguisition Regulation,
which comprehensively regulate the procuremeninmé&ion, administration and performance of governnecentracts;

» the business ethics and public integrity oblmz, which govern conflicts of interest and therfyg of former government
employees, restrict the granting of gratuities imdling of lobbying activities and incorporate athequirements such as the Anti-
Kickback Act and Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

« export and import control laws and regulations;

* laws, regulations and executive orders restiicthe use and dissemination of information clésifor national security purposes
and the exportation of certain products and techmiata.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approvals

If we are not able to obtain required regulatory pmvals, we will not be able to commercialize ouud candidates in the United Stat
other than through sales to BARDA under Project BBbield , and our ability to generate revenue wik Inaterially impaired.

Our drug candidates and the activities associaitu thveir development and commercialization, in@hgdtheir testing, manufactu
safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storaggroval, advertising, promotion, sale and distitn, are subject to comprehensive regul:
by FDA and other regulatory agencies in the UniBtdtes and by comparable authorities in other cmsntFailure to obtain regulatc
approval for a drug candidate will prevent us froommercializing the drug candidate in the Unitealt&t other than through sales to BAF
under Project BioShield. We have limited experieimcpreparing, filing and prosecuting the applicat necessary to gain regulatory apprc
and expect to rely on thirgarty contract research organizations and condaltarassist us in this process. Securing FDA agnequires th
submission to FDA of extensive peéinical and clinical data and, potentially, aninefficacy studies, information about product mastufanc
processes and inspection of facilities and suppgrinformation in order to establish the drug cdatks safety and efficacy. Our futt
products may not be effective, may be only modératfective, or may prove to have significant seféects, toxicities, or other characteris
that may preclude our obtaining regulatory appravgrevent or limit commercial use.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in internatioal jurisdictions could prevent us from marketinguo products abroad.

We intend to have our products marketed outsideUiiéed States. To market our products in the EeaopUnion and many ott
foreign jurisdictions, we may need to obtain sefgragulatory approvals and comply with numerous \arying regulatory requirements. -
approval procedure varies among countries androarivie additional testing. The time required toadbtapproval may differ from that requil
to obtain FDA approval.

The foreign regulatory approval process may inclatleof the risks associated with obtaining FDA ap@l. We may not obta
foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basistiall. Approval by FDA does not ensure approvatdgulatory authorities in other countrie:
jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regutatauthority does not ensure approval by regulatrthorities in other foreign countries
jurisdictions or by FDA. We and our potential fugurollaborators may not be able to file for requigtapprovals and may not receive neces
approvals to commercialize our products in any re@rk

The Fast Track designation for ST-246 may not acliydead to a faster development or regulatory rewi or approval process.

We have obtained a “Fast Track” designation fromAHDr ST-246. However, we may not experience a faster dewedmt proces
review or approval compared to conventional FDAcpdures. FDA may withdraw our Fast Track desigmaifiet believes that the designat
is no longer supported by data from our clinicalelepment program. Our Fast Track designation do¢guarantee that we will qualify for
be able to take advantage of FBAExpedited review procedures or that any apptinatiat we may submit to FDA for regulatory appiovél
be accepted for filing or ultimately approved.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

If third parties on whom we rely for clinical triad or certain animal trials do not perform as conttually required or as we expect, we n
not be able to obtain regulatory approval for ormonercialize our drug candidates and our businessynsalffer.

We do not have the ability to independently condbetclinical trials, and certain animal trialsquéred to obtain regulatory appro
for our products. We depend on independent invatig, contract research organizations and othel-plarty service providers to cond
trials of our drug candidates and expect to comtittudo so. We rely heavily on these third parfiiessuccessful execution of our trials, bu
not exercise day-to-day control over their actdgtiWe are@esponsible for ensuring that each of our trialsasducted in accordance with
general investigational plan and protocols for tti@. Moreover, FDA requires us to comply with reiards, commonly referred to as G
Clinical Practices, for conducting and recording agporting the results of clinical trials to assthat data and reported results are credibl
accurate and that the rights, integrity and comfiigdity of trial participants are protected. Siarly, animal trials may have to comply w
Good Laboratory Practices.

We also currently rely on third-party manufacturarsl service providers to produce 346. Under the BARDA Contract, we
responsible for the performance of these tipiadty contracts, and our contracts with these thadies give us certain supervisory and qu
control rights, but we do not exercise complete-titaglay control over their activities.

Our reliance on third parties that we do nottool does not relieve us of the responsibilitesl requirements imposed by the BAR
Contract. Third parties may not complete activitesschedule, or may not conduct our trials in aed@nce with
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regulatory requirements or our stated protocolse Tdilure of these third parties to carry out theiiligations could delay or prevent
development, approval and commercialization ofdmug candidates.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our ability to compete may decrease if we do notqualtely protect our intellectual property rights.

Our commercial success will depend in part on dailita to obtain and maintain patent protection farr proprietary technologi¢
drug targets and potential products and to effettipreserve our trade secrets and trademark rigeisause of the substantial length of 1
and expense associated with bringing potential yotsdthrough the development and regulatory clezrgmocesses to reach the marketp
the pharmaceutical industry places considerableoitapce on obtaining patent and trade secret giotecThe patent positions
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies canidd@yhuncertain and involve complex legal and fattquestions. No consistent pol
regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biotedbgy patents has emerged to date. Accordinglycarnot predict the type and breadt
claims allowed in these patents.

As of December 31, 2011, we exclusively own 8 p&ents, 1 U.S. provisional patent applicationsy18. utility patent applicatior
4 international PCT patent applications and 12@ifpr patent applications. We included a summargusfpatent position as of December
2011 in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on iRdt0-K.

We also rely on trade secrets, knbaw, continuing technological innovation and licegsopportunities. In an effort to maintain
confidentiality and ownership of trade secrets angprietary information, we require our employeesnsultants and some collaborator
execute confidentiality and invention assignmemeaments upon commencement of a relationship veitiThese agreements may not pro
meaningful protection for our trade secrets, caafithl information or inventions in the event ofauthorized use or disclosure of s
information, and adequate remedies may not exitarevent of such unauthorized use or disclosure.

If our technologies are alleged or found to infriregthe patents or proprietary rights of others, waynbe sued, we may have to pay dam.
or be barred from pursuing a technology, or we mhgve to license those rights to or from others onfavorable terms. Even if we preve
such litigation may be costly

Our commercial success will depend significantlyoom ability to operate without infringing the pate or proprietary rights of thi
parties. Our technologies, or the technologie$iofitparties on which we may depend, may infrirfgge patents or proprietary rights of other
there is an adverse outcome in any dispute comgemights to these technologies, then we couldutgest to significant liability, required
license disputed rights from or to other partied/anrequired to cease using a technology necessargrry out our research, development
commercialization activities.

The costs to establish or defend against claimsfohgement or interference with patents or otheprietary rights can be expens
and timeeonsuming, even if the outcome is favorable. Arconte of any patent or proprietary rights admintsteaproceeding or litigation th
is unfavorable to us may have a material adverfsetedbn us. We could incur substantial costs ifaxe required to defend ourselves in ¢
brought by third parties or if we initiate suchtsuWe may not have sufficient funds or resourogbé event of litigation. Additionally, we m
not prevail in any such action.

Any dispute resulting from claims based on patamis$ proprietary rights could result in a significaeduction in the coverage of -
patents or proprietary rights owned, optioned byicansed to us and limit our ability to obtain maeful protection for our rights. If patel
are issued to third parties that contain competitor conflicting claims, we may be legally prohduit from researching, developing
commercializing potential products or be requiresbtain licenses to these patents or to develaybtain alternative technology. We may
legally prohibited from using technology owned lifiexs, may not be able to obtain any license tg#tents or technologies of third partie:
acceptable terms, if at all, or may not be ablelt@in or develop alternative technologies.

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAtheri#géyl an action against us in the Delaware CourtCblancery captiont
PharmAthene, Inc. v. SGA Technologies, Inc ., C.A. No. 2627N. In its amended complaint, PharmAthene asks thartGo order us to ent
into a license agreement with PharmAthene witheesfp ST246, as well as issue a declaration that we argeibko execute such a lice
agreement, and award damages resulting from oyrosapd breach of that obligation. PharmAthene dlsges that we breached an obliga
to negotiate such a license agreement in good, fadthvell as seeks damages for promissory estappglelnjust enrichment based on supp
information, capital and assistance that PharmAdtadlegedly provided to us during the negotiatioocpss. A trial was held on PharmAthene’
claims in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court of Chancery issugabigs-trial opinion. The Court denied PharmAthenmetguests for
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specific performance and expectation damages mexhdwy the present value of estimated future proFswever, the Court held that
breached our duty to negotiate in good faith andewiable under the doctrine of promissory estoppéle Court consequently awardet
PharmAthene what the court describedamsequitable payment stream or equitable lien stingi of fifty percent of the net profits that
achieve from sales of ST46 after we secure the first $40 million in netffis, for ten years following the first commercedle. In additiol
PharmAthene was awarded othérd of its reasonable attorney fees and expeineass expenses. Based on certain documents protadée
Court by PharmAthene in January 2012, we recordémss contingency of approximately $2.0 million @lsDecember 31, 2011 for st
attorney fees and expert witness expenses. Thereliffe between the amount accrued and PharmAthesgiest for $2.7 million relates
amounts currently in dispute.

We filed a motion for reargument in October 20ldquesting that the Court vacate its award of aritagje payment stream
equitable lien. In December 2011, the Court depigdmotion.

The timing and amount of payments to be made puatswwathe Cours September 2011 ruling remain uncertain. Detertioinaoi
these matters requires both clarification as toapglication of the Court’s postial ruling and the timing and amount of paymetatsus fo
sales of ST-246. Thus, we are unable to estimed@ge of loss that may result from implementatibthe Court’s postrial ruling with respet
to ST246 sales, although this ruling is likely to havenaterially adverse impact unless we are succegsfahy subsequent appeal of
Court’s final judgment. We cannot assure the sucoéany such appeal.

In addition, like many biopharmaceutical companigs, may from time to time hire scientific personfaimerly employed by oth
companies involved in one or more areas similahéoactivities conducted by us. It is possible thatand/or these individuals may be sut
to allegations of trade secret misappropriationtber similar claims as a result of their prioril&tfions.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Financing

We have incurred operating losses since our inceptand expect to incur net losses and negative cigiv for the foreseeable future.

We incurred net operating losses of approximat&ly.4 million and $12.7 million for the years end@dcember 31, 2011 and 20
respectively. As of December 31, 2011, 2010, ar@b20ur accumulated deficit was approximately $208illion, $122.5 million, and $94
million, respectively. We expect to continue to éaignificant operating expenses and will needetoegate significant revenues to achieve
maintain profitability.

Our profitability is substantially dependent on eaues from ST46 product sales. If we do not achieve profitahpilive cannc
guarantee that we can sustain or increase prdifitabn a quarterly or annual basis in the futurel ave expect that revenues will fluctt
significantly from quarter to quarter based on savfactors, including the timing of fulfilling orts for the U.S. government. If revenues ¢
slower than we anticipate, or if operating experwesxpenses resulting from the pasal ruling in the litigation commenced by Pharrane
exceed our expectations or cannot be adjusted @diogly, then our business, results of operatiomgnicial condition and cash flows will
materially and adversely affected. Because outegfyamay include the acquisition of other busingsaequisition and integration expenses
any cash required to fund these acquisitions wdlice our available cash.

Our business may suffer if we are unable to rais#ditional equity funding.

Until we begin to receive payments related to cenfggmance under the BARDA Contract, our operatimay be constrained by ¢
ability to raise money through the exercise of &mxgs options or warrants or through the issuancen@f equity. While we have rais
substantial funds through new equity or the exerds options or warrants in the past, there is nargntee that we will continue to
successful in raising such funds. If we are undbleaise additional equity funds, we may be fortedliscontinue, cease or limit cert
operations. We currently have sufficient operatiagital to finance our operations for at least &t twelve months. Our annual opera
needs vary from year to year depending upon theuatnaf cash generated through the BARDA Contracan® and licenses, the amour
projects we undertake, and the amount of resowreesxpend in connection with acquisitions, all dfieh may materially differ from year
year and may adversely affect our busin

Any additional equity that we raise may contaimtgy such as liquidation and other preferencesatamnot favorable to us or «

stockholders. If we raise additional funds throughiaboration and licensing arrangements with tipiadties, it may be necessary to reling
valuable rights to our technologies or product édates or grant licenses on terms that may noaberéble to us.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price is, and we expect it to remain,atile, which could limit investors’ ability to setock at a profit.

The volatile price of our stock makes it difficéittr investors to predict the value of their invesnts, to sell shares at a profit at
given time, or to plan purchases and sales in amah variety of factors may affect the market eraf our common stock. These include,
are not limited to:

* publicity regarding actual or potential clinical @animal test results relating to products underettgpment by our competitors
us;

« initiating, completing or analyzing, or a delay failure in initiating, completing or analyzingre<linical or clinical trials ¢
animal trials or the design or results of thesa4ri

« achievement or rejection of regulatory approval®bycompetitors or u
¢ announcements of technological innovations or nemroercial products by our competitors ot

« developments concerning proprietary rights, udetlg patents and rights to ZB6 or a portion of the net profits associi
therewith as asserted by PharmAthene;

« developments concerning our collaborati

e regulatory developments in the United States areida countries

e economic or other crises and other external faj

e period-toperiod fluctuations in our revenues and other tssafloperations; at
« changes in financial estimates by securities ate

Additionally, because the volume of trading in atwck fluctuates significantly at times, any infation about us in the media n
result in significant volatility in our stock price

We will not be able to control many of these fast@nd we believe that period{efiod comparisons of our financial results wilt
necessarily be indicative of our future performance

In addition, the stock market in general, and tregket for biotechnology companies in particulars kaperienced extreme price
volume fluctuations that may have been unrelatedisproportionate to the operating performancendividual companies. These broad ma
and industry factors may seriously harm the mapkiee of our common stock, regardless of our ojreggterformance.

We identified a material weakness, which we subsagly remediated, in our internal control over fimeial reporting that resulted in th
restatement of our consolidated financial statemgimcluded in our 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A

Our management is responsible for maintaining irgercontrol over financial reporting designed tmpde reasonable assura
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdathe preparation of consolidated financial statesméor external purposes in accordance
generally accepted accounting principles. Our mamant assessed the effectiveness of our intermdtatcover financial reporting as
December 31, 2009, and identified a material weskmelated to the failure to ensure timely appglicabf certain antdilution provision:
contained in certain outstanding warrant arrangésnéys a result of this material weakness, our gameent concluded that our internal cor
over financial reporting and our disclosure corgrahd procedures were not effective as of Dece®beR009. We subsequently remedi
this control.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatiérdeficiencies, in internal control over finariciaporting such that there i
reasonable possibility that a material misstateroéour annual or interim consolidated financiatetments will not be prevented or detecte
a timely basis. The effectiveness of any controlprocedures is subject to certain limitations, asdx result, there can be no assurance th
controls and procedures will detect all errorsraufl. A control can provide only reasonable, natoslite, assurance that the objectives o
control system will be attained. We also cannouasgou that other material weaknesses will nateads a result of failures to main
adequate internal controls and procedures or tiatravention of
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those controls and procedures will not occur. Addally, even our improved controls and proceduresy not be adequate to preven
identify errors or irregularities or ensure that financial statements are prepared in accordariitegenerally accepted accounting princig
If we cannot maintain and execute adequate intezaatrol over financial reporting or implement réggd new or improved controls tl
provide reasonable assurance of the reliabilityhef financial reporting and preparation of our ficial statements for external use, we ¢
suffer harm to our reputation, fail to meet our lbeporting requirements on a timely basis, orupable to properly report on our busir
and the results of our operations, and the marnkes pf our securities could be materially adversdfected.

A future issuance of preferred stock may adversaffect the rights of the holders of our common skor

Our certificate of incorporation allows our Boarftiirectors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares diepred stock and to fix the voti
powers, designations, preferences, rights and faqpsions, limitations or restrictions of these sswithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The rights of the holders of commimelswill be subject to, and could be adverseleetiéd by, the rights of the holders of
preferred stock that we may issue in the futuree ®Hsuance of preferred stock, while providing @dse flexibility in connection with ol
future activities, could also have the effect ofking it more difficult for a third party to acquir@ majority of our outstanding voting stc
thereby delaying, deferring or preventing a chaingsontrol.

Concentration of ownership of our capital stock cloudelay or prevent a change of control.

Our directors, executive officers and principalcktmlders beneficially own a significant percentaje@ur common stock. They a
have, through the exercise or conversion of cedaturities, the right to acquire additional comnstock. As a result, these stockholder
acting together, have the ability to significanihfluence the outcome of corporate actions reqgishareholder approval. Additionally, t
concentration of ownership may have the effect elaging or preventing a change in control of SIG¥s of the most recent availa
information, directors, officers and principal dtbolders beneficially owned approximately 33% of outstanding stock.

Risks Related to Our Business

The loss of key personnel or our ability to recruit retain qualified personnel could adversely afteour results of operations.

We rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, tision, integrity and good faith of our senior mgement team. Our succes:
dependent upon our personnel and our ability toureand train high quality employees. We must oarg to recruit, retain and motiv
management and other employees sufficient to miaiota current business and support our projectedidp. The loss of services of any of
key management could have a material adverse effectr business.

Our future success depends on our ability to retain chief executive officer and other key execsivand to attract, retain ¢
motivate qualified personnel. The loss of the smwiof any key executive might impede the achieveroéour research, development
commercialization objectives. Replacing key empésyenay be difficult and timeensuming because of the limited number of indigldur
our industry with the skills and experiences reegito develop, gain regulatory approval of and cemnumalize our product candida
successfully. We generally do not maintain key perife insurance to cover the loss of any of ompiyees. Recruiting and retain
qualified scientific personnel, clinical personiagld sales and marketing personnel will also bécatito our success. We may not be ab
attract and retain these personnel on acceptabiestef at all, given the competition among numearg@harmaceutical and biotechnol
companies for similar personnel. We also experietmapetition for the hiring of scientific and clial personnel from other compan
universities and research institutions. In additie rely on consultants and advisors, includingrgdic and clinical advisors, to assist u
formulating our research and development, reguwatord commercialization strategy. Our consultamtd advisors may be employed
employers other than us and may have commitmenisrwonsulting or advisory contracts with otheiitexg that may limit their availability -
us.

We may have difficulty managing our growth.

During 2011, we have experienced, in part due toneed to perform under the BARDA Contract, and nmathe future experien
growth in the number of our employees and the safpaur operations. This potential future growttulcbplace a significant strain on «
management and operations. Our ability to managevtyrwill depend upon our ability to broaden ourmagement team and our ability
attract, hire and retain skilled employees. Ourcess will also depend on the ability of our offc@and key employees to continue to impler
and improve our operational and other systems ahét¢, train and manage our employees.

25




Table of Contents
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands may be limited.

As of December 31, 2011, we had federal net opeydtiss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $90.6 milliondfiset future taxable incorn
In 2011, approximately $0.9 million of previouslyalable NOLs expired and approximately $1.2 milliexpires in 2012 if not utilized, wi
the remainder expiring in various years betweer82xid 2031. Under the provisions of the InternatéRele Code, substantial changes ir
ownership, in certain circumstances, will limit taenount of NOLs that can be utilized annually ie fature to offset taxable income.
particular, section 382 of the Internal Revenue &€imaposes limitations on a company’s ability to 8K8Ls if a company experiences a more-
than-50% ownership change over a thyear period. If we are limited in our ability toausur NOLs in future years in which we have tax
income, we will pay more taxes than if we were dblatilize our NOLs fully. For example, as a reésafla previous change in stock owners
the annual utilization of the net operating carrwfards generated in tax years prior to 2004 maguixgect to limitation.

In addition, existing rulings in the litigation WwitPharmAthene, if not overturned in subsequent ggdings, may limit our futu
profitability and therefore our ability to generditeure taxable income that we can use our camwédods to offset.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters are located in New York City, andresearch and development facilities are locate@orvallis, Oregon. In Ne
York, we occupy approximately 2,450 square feetemrmh Office Service Agreement with an affiliate afshareholder that, as curre
amended, is cancelable upon 60 days notice. Indllexwwe lease approximately 32,700 square fedeuan amended lease agreement s
in January 2007, which was amended and extendedlina 1, 2011. The Company formerly occupied 5, Hfae feet under a suble
agreement signed in January 2010 which expirecepte3nber 2011. Our facility in Oregon has been oned to meet the special requirem
necessary for the operation of our research andldement activities. The facilities leased in Cdligancludes space existing under the
lease terms and newly constructed space in the baitting under the most recent lease amendmentb#&lieve that our current facilities
adequate to our needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAtherigéyl an action against us in the Delaware CourtCblancery captiont
PharmAthene, Inc. v. SGA Technologies, Inc ., C.A. No. 2627N. In its amended complaint, PharmAthene asks th&rtQo order us to ent
into a license agreement with PharmAthene witheesfp ST246, as well as issue a declaration that we argexbko execute such a lice
agreement, and award damages resulting from oyrosagd breach of that obligation. PharmAthene dlsges that we breached an obliga
to negotiate such a license agreement in good, fadthvell as seeks damages for promissory estapglelnjust enrichment based on supp
information, capital and assistance that PharmAdtadlegedly provided to us during the negotiatioocpss. A trial was held on PharmAthene’
claims in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court of Chancery issuedatst-trial opinion. The Court denied PharmAtheneéquests for speci
performance and expectation damages measured §grpnealue of estimated future profits. Howevee, @ourt held that we breached our «
to negotiate in good faith and were liable underdbctrine of promissory estoppel. The Court consatly awarded to PharmAthene what
Court described as an equitable payment streamuwtable lien consisting of fifty percent of thetpeofits that we achieve from sales of ST-
246 after we secure the first $40 million in nedffis, for ten years following the first commercgale. In addition, PharmAthene was awa
onethird of its reasonable attorney fees and expethegs expenses. Based on certain documents protadisg Court by PharmAthene
January 2012, we recorded a loss contingency abappately $2.0 million as of December 31, 2011 $ach attorney fees and expert wit
expenses. The difference between the amount acang®harmAthene’s request for $2.7 million reldaeamounts currently in dispute.

We filed a motion for reargument in October 20ldquesting that the Court vacate its award of aritagje payment stream
equitable lien. In December 2011, the Court depigdmotion.

The timing and amount of payments to be made puatswwathe Cours September 2011 ruling remain uncertain. Detertioinaoi
these matters requires both clarification as toapglication of the Court’s postial ruling and the timing and amount of paymetatsus fo
sales of ST-246. Thus, we are unable to estimed@ge of loss that may result from implementatibthe Court’s postrial ruling with respet
to ST246 sales, although such resolution is likely teeha materially adverse impact unless we are ssfiddés any subsequent appeal of
Court’s final judgment. We cannot assure the sucoéany such appeal.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

No disclosure is required pursuant to this item.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder

Price Range of Common Stock

Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities

Our common stock trades under the symbol “SIG3ur common stock has been traded on the Nasda@QWdrket since Septemt
3, 2009 and, prior to such date, had been tradetieiNasdaq Capital Market since September 9, 1PA@r to that time there was no pul
market for our common stock. The following tabléssierth, for the periods indicated, the high aow kales prices for the common stock

reported on the Nasdaq Global Market:

2011 High Low

First Quarter $ 15.6¢ $ 10.6¢
Second Quarter 15.4( 9.5:
Third Quarter 9.9t 2.61
Fourth Quarter 3.5¢ 1.7¢
2010 High Low

First Quarter $ 7.6 $ 5.5C
Second Quarter 8.0¢ 6.0
Third Quarter 9.27 6.9¢
Fourth Quarter 14.3¢ 7.7¢

As of February 15, 2012, the closing sale priceowf common stock was $3.Jer share. There were 44 holders of record

February 15, 2012. We believe that the number okfeial owners of our common stock is substantiglieater than the number of rec
holders, because a large portion of common stohklin broker “street names”.

We have paid no dividends on our common stock andad expect to pay cash dividends in the forededakure. We are not unc
any restriction as to our present or future abildypay dividends. We currently intend to retaity &uture earnings to finance the growth
development of our business.

Performance Graph
The following line graph compares the cumulativealtstockholder return through December 31, 20Ebkuming reinvestment

dividends, by an investor who invested $100 on Deszr 31, 2006 in each of (i) our common stock,t(i§ Nasdaq National Marké&tS; ant
(iii) the Nasdaqg Pharmaceutical Index.
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December 31,

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
SIGA Technologies, Inc. $ 10C $ 82 $ 87 $ 158§ 37 $ 67
NASDAQ Composite Index $ 10C $ 11C % 65 $ 94 $ 11C % 10€
NASDAQ Biotech Composite Index $ 10C $ 108 % 91 $ 106 $ 12z % 13€

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The information required by this item concerningwséies authorized for issuance under equity campgon plans is set forth in Item
12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owsmiand Management and Related Stockholder Matters”.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data for the years endedeidber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidadtahce sheet data as
December 31, 2011 and 2010 have been derived frorawdited consolidated financial information irdihg elsewhere in this Annual Ref
on Form 10K. The selected financial data for the years eridecember 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated batdres data as of Decem
31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 have been derived fromtexidonsolidated financial statements not incluiethis annual report. The followil
table should be read in conjunction with Item 7 @fdgement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financialdton and Results of Operationgihc
the consolidated financial statements and relatgelsrto those statements included elsewhere imtimgal report.

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues $ 12,72¢ % 19,21¢  $ 13,81: $ 8,066 $ 6,69¢
Selling, general and administrative 23,93: 8,131 7,53 4,60¢ 3,70¢
Research and development 18,36 22,65¢ 17,42 11,61 9,94:%
Patent preparation fees 1,80¢ 1,14¢ 734 582 51t
Loss from operations (31,38)) (12,72 (11,87%) (8,737) (7,467)
Decrease (increase) in fair value of comrstock warrants 8,931 (15,959 (7,527 (1,510 1,43(
Other income, net 13 65¢ 1 94 394
Loss before income taxes (22,43 (28,020 (29,400 (20,159 (5,639
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 36,03 (a75) — — —
Net income (loss) $ 1359 $ (28,19 $ (19,400 $ (10,159 $ (5,639
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 027 $ 0.62 $ 052 $ 029 $ 0.17)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.0¢ $ 0.62 $ 052 $ 0.29 $ 0.17%)
Weighted average shares outstanding: basic 50,929,49 45,151,74. 37,463,25 34,732,62 33,330,81
Weighted average shares outstanding: diluted 54,061,65 45,151,74. 37,463,25 34,732,62 33,330,81
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment $ 49,257 $ 21,33: % 19,49¢ $ 232: $ 6,83
Long-term obligations 771 10,70( 9,73¢ 4,477 3,24:%
Total assets 90,38( 27,03: 25,91¢ 8,791 10,58¢
Stockholders’ equity 41,68¢ 12,06¢ 715z 1 5,22¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 25,57« (20,825 (8,477) (7,199 (5,44%)
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements and
other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, the following
discussion and other parts of this Annual Report contain forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties .

Overview

We are a pharmaceutical company specializing indéheslopment and commercialization of pharmacelusicitions for some of tl
most lethal disease-causing pathogens in the wosldhallpox, Ebola, dengue, Lassa fever and othereatang viruses. Our business i
discover, develop, manufacture and successfullyncervialize drugs to prevent and treat these pigbrity threats. Our mission is to dise
dreaded viral diseases and create robust, modedefeinse countermeasures.

Commercial Product - ST-246®

The Company’s lead product, ZB6, is an orally administered antiviral drug thergets orthopoxviruses. On May 13, 2011, S
signed the BARDA Contract pursuant to which we adre deliver two million courses of ST-246 to Bieategic Stockpile. The fivgear bas
contract award is worth approximately $435 milli@nd the BARDA Contract also includes various amtido be exercised at BARDA'
discretion. As originally issued, the BARDA Contragcluded an option for the purchase of up to liftion additional courses of S746
however, following a protest by a competitor of thempany, BARDA issued a contract modification ame) 24, 2011 pursuant to whicl
deleted the option to purchase the additional esurtinder the BARDA Contract as modified, BARDA lageed to buy from SIGA 1
million courses of ST246. Additionally, SIGA will contribute to BARDA 30000 courses manufactured using federal fundsigedvby HH¢
under prior development contracts. The BARDA Catttias modified also contains options that will per8IGA to continue its work ¢
pediatric and geriatric versions of the drug asl asluse ST-246 for smallpox prophylaxis. As disegsin Item 3, “Legal Proceedingghe
amount of profits we are likely to retain pursutmthe BARDA Contract is dependent upon resolutibthe pending dispute described in ¢
section.

We believe ST-246 will be the first entirely newatmolecule drug delivered to the Strategic Stockpiider Project BioShield. FC
has designated ST-246 for “fast-track” status, tingea path for expedited FDA review and eventeglutatory approval.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The methods, estimates and judgments we use iyiagmur accounting policies have a significant &opon the results we repor
our consolidated financial statements, which weulis under the heading “Results of Operationsbialhg this section of our Management’
Discussion and Analysis. Some of our accountindcigs require us to make difficult and subjectiudgments, often as a result of the ne¢
make estimates of matters that are inherently t@micerOur most critical accounting estimates inelutie valuation of stock options ¢
warrants, revenue recognition, impairment of asaats income taxes. Below, we discuss these polfcieker, as well as the estimates
judgments involved

Critical Accounting Policies

The following is a brief discussion of the sign#it accounting policies and methods used by usdrpteparation of our consolida
financial statements. Note 2 of the Notes to the@ddbtdated Financial Statements includes a summofmll of the significant accountil
policies.

Share-based Compensation

We account for our stodkased compensation using the fair value recognpiimvisions prescribed by the authoritative guiggnehict
requires the measurement and recognition of conapiensexpense for all shabtmsed payment awards made to employees and dg
including employee stock options based on estim@iedalues.

Stockbased compensation expense for 2011, 2010 and \288%12.5 million, $1.5 million and $2.1 milliorespectively. The fa
value of share-based awards is determined on tet glate; for options awards, fair value is estadatsing the Blaclscholes model. Tl
value of the portion of the award that is ultimgtekpected to vest is recorded as expense oveetfugsite
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periods in our consolidated statement of operatietermining the fair value of stoddased awards at the grant date requires judg
including estimating the expected term over whitdtls awards will be outstanding before they arer@ged, the expected volatility of ¢
stock, and the number of stoblesed awards that are expected to be forfeited.rgasonably likely that future assumptions magngfe, il
which case the fair value of future option awards/raxceed or fall short of historical calculateit fealues. In addition, for stock options w
performance conditions, on a quarterly basis wanes¢ the most probable outcome of the performamoclitions in order to determine
amount of compensation costs to be recorded oeeretimaining vesting period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalentguats receivables, shdgrm investments, accounts payable and accruedss:
approximates fair value due to the relatively smoaturity of these instruments. Common stock wasranhich are classified as liabilities
recorded at their fair market value as of eachntémpperiod.

The measurement of fair value requires the usedfrtiques based on observable and unobservables.irloservable inputs refls
market data obtained from independent sourcesgwiribbservable inputs reflect our market assumgtidhe inputs create the following 1
value hierarchy:

e Level 1 -Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets

« Level 2 —Quoted prices for similar instruments in active keds; quoted prices for identical or similar instients in markets th
are not active; and model-derived valuations wiigsats are observable or where significant valueetls are observable.

« Level 3 -nstruments where significant value drivers arehssovable to third partie

We use modetlerived valuations where inputs are observablective markets to determine the fair value of carte@ammon stoc
warrants on a recurring basis and classify suchamgs in Level 2. The Blac&choles model utilizes inputs consisting of: (§ thosing price ¢
our common stock; (ii) the expected remaining difeghe warrants; (iii) the expected volatility ugia weightecaverage of historical volatilitir
of SIGA and a group of comparable companies; andtfie riskfree market rate. At December 31, 2011 and 201® fair value of suc
warrants was $622,938 and $10,524,660, respectigiaysified as non-current common stock warrantthe balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2010, we held approximately @h5llion in United States Treasury Bills, classiias a Level 1 securitfor the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we didotbtany Level 3 securitie

Revenue Recognitio

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred, theiddixed and determinab
collectability is reasonably assured, contractudigations have been satisfied and title and risloss have been transferred to the custc
We recognize revenue from non-refundablefrapt payments, not tied to achieving a specifidf@enance milestone, over the period whick
are obligated to perform services or based on #regmtage of costs incurred to date, estimated costomplete and total expected con
revenue. Payments for development activities avegmeized as revenue is earned, over the periotfat.d~unding for the acquisition of capi
assets under cost-pliise Grants is evaluated for appropriate recogniésna reduction to the cost of the acquired assdtnancin
arrangement, or revenue, based on the specifictefrhe related grant or contract. Substantives&tmilestone payments, which are base
achieving a specific performance milestone, aregrized as revenue when the milestone is achienédre related payment is due, provic
there is no future service obligation associatetth what milestone. In situations where we receiagnpent in advance of the performanc
services, such amounts are deferred and recogas&zesl/enue as the related services are performed.

Goodwill

The purchase price of an acquired company is dabdchetween intangible assets and the net tang#sets of the acquired busir
with the residual of the purchase price recordedaaxiwill. The determination of the fair value bktintangible assets acquired and liabil
assumed involves certain judgments and estimates.

At December 31, 2011, our goodwill totaled $898,000: evaluate goodwill for impairment at least ahuor as circumstanc
warrant. Goodwill is tested for recoverability been annual evaluations whenever events or chang#umstances indicate that the carr
amounts may not be recoverable. The impairmeneveyrocess compares the fair value of the reporimigin which goodwill resides to
carrying value. In 2011, we operated as one busiaad one reporting unit. Therefore, the goodwilbairment analysis was performed on
basis of the Company as a whole using our mark@tat&zation as an estimate of our fair value.He past, our market capitalization has |
significantly in excess of our carrying value.dt i
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possible that our future market capitalization nfialy short of our current market capitalization,rhich case a potential impairment cc
result. Also, the use of an alternative methodhsagthe discounted expected future cash flowsavkeh comparables to evaluate the fair v
of the Company as a whole will possibly producéedént results than our market capitalization.

Income Taxes

Determining the consolidated provision for incorag expense, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesraladed valuation allowance
any, involves judgment. The recognition of a vahmtallowance for deferred taxes requires managétmemake estimates and judgme
about our future profitability which are inherentiycertain. On an ogeing basis, we evaluate whether a valuation altmeas needed
reduce our deferred income tax assets to an antbahtis more likely than not to be realized. Thaleation process includes asses
historical and current results in addition to fet@xpected results. Upon determining that we wbel@ble to realize our deferred tax assel
adjustment to the deferred tax valuation allowamoeld increase income in the period we make sutéragnation.

Our assessment that our deferred tax assets wikkdlezed is based on estimates of future taxafiterne arising from the BARLC
Contract. If the current estimates of future tagabhkcome are reduced or not realized, includingierpact of the pending dispute as desct
in Item 3 “Legal Proceedingsur assessment regarding the realization of defame assets could change. Future changes in theadst
amount of deferred taxes expected to be realizdidbeireflected in our financial statements in fheriod the estimate is changed wi
corresponding adjustment to operating results. Gaain estimates may occur often and can haven#fisant favorable or unfavorable imp
on our operating results from period to period.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Stasel®oard (the “FASB")issued updated accounting guidance which ame
guidance on how to test goodwill for impairmentisThpdate permits an entity to first assess quai@dactors to determine whether it is m
likely than not that the fair value of a reportingit is less than its carrying amount as a basislébermining whether it is necessary to peri
a two-step goodwill impairment test. The updated guidaisceffective for annual impairment tests perfornediscal years beginning af
December 15, 2011 with early adoption permitted. ¥¥pect that the adoption of this guidance will hatve a material impact on «
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued additional guidancgainvalue measurements that clarifies the apptioaof existing guidance a
disclosure requirements, changes certain fair vaieasurement principles and requires additionalaisires about fair value measurem
The updated guidance is effective during interind annual period beginning after December 15, 20%é&.expect that the adoption of 1
guidance will not have a material impact on oursmidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued updated accountitidance for fair value measurements. This upgedeides amendments tl
require new disclosure as follows: (1) A reportergity should disclose separately the amountsgrfificant transfers in and out of Level 1.
Level 2 fairvalue measurements and describe the reasons foatisfers. (2) In the reconciliation for fair valmeasurements using signific
unobservable inputs (Level 3), a reporting entitgidd present separately information about purchasses, issuances, and settlements (tl
on a gross basis rather than as one net numbég).upbate provides amendments that clarify existiisglosures as follows: (1) A report
entity should provide faivalue measurement disclosures for each class efsaand liabilities. A class is often a subsetssfeds or liabilitie
within a line item in the statement of financialsimn. A reporting entity needs to use judgmendétermining the appropriate classes of a
and liabilities. (2) A reporting entity should pide disclosures about the valuation techniquesiapgts used to measure fair value for |
recurring and nonrecurring fair value measuremernisse disclosures are required for fair value mesaments that fall in either Level 2
Level 3. The new disclosures and clarificationseristing disclosures are effective for interim aathual reporting periods beginning a
December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures apoahases, sales, issuances, and settlements moliiorward of activity in Level 3 fair-
value measurements. Those disclosures are effdativiiscal years beginning after December 15, 2Gk@ for interim periods within thc
fiscal years. We adopted the amendments, and slogitian has not had a material impact on our catatEd financial statements.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain consolidas¢éatements of operations data as a percentage ofvenue for the periods indica

2011 2010 2009
Revenue 10C% 10C% 10C%
Selling, general and administrative 188 % 42 % 55 %
Research and development 144 % 118% 126 %
Patent preparation fees 14% 6 % 5%
Operating loss 247 % 66 % 86 %

Years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009.

Revenues from research and development contradtgramts for the years ended December 31, 201122@hd, were $12.7 millic
and $19.2 million, respectively. The decrease 0% $8illion, or 34%, relates to a $3.1 million dease in revenue mainly due to the conclu
of a federal ST246 contract in the third quarter of 2011, and tH3a7 million revenue decrease attributable todbeclusion in 2010 of
federal grant mainly supporting development of adaafever antiviral.

Revenues from research and development contradtgramts for the years ended December 31, 201866, were $19.2 millic
and $13.8 million, respectively. The increase a#i$®illion or 39% mainly relates to a $2.2 milliarcrease in revenue generated from fet
Grants supporting our broad spectrum antiviral tipraent program and a $2.4 million increase geedréiom federal Grants supporting
arenavirus antiviral program. Revenue generated fealeral Grants supporting the development o8& -increased $904,000 during the y:

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&ar the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 $23® million and $8
million, respectively, reflecting an increase opeagximately $15.8 million or 195%. The increaseSiB&A expenses mainly relates to a $:
million increase in compensation expense, whicluohes an increase in non-cash stbelsed compensation of approximately $11.1 mil
and an increase of $2.0 million for an estimated loontingency in connection with an ongoing lefispute.

SG&A for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 20€¥¢ $8.1 million and $7.5 million, respectivetgflecting an increase
approximately $598,000 or 8%. The increase in SG&denses were mainly due to an increase of $559100€gal fees, an increase
$260,000 in expenses supporting business develdpa#vities and an increase of $181,000 in inscegoremiums. The increase was offse
a decline of $615,000 in compensation related edipames, including stock-based compensation.

Research and development (“R&RJpenses were $18.4 million for the year ended Déee 31, 2011, a decrease of $4.3 million or
from the $22.7 million incurred during the year eddDecember 31, 2010. The decrease was primaréytalulirect expenses supporting
development of SP46 decreasing $4.8 million from the prior yearfsef by an increase to employee compensation egpeas a result
hiring additional R&D personnel. As of December 2011 and 2010, we had 61 and 57 full-time R&D penel, respectively.

R&D expenses were $22.7 million for the year enBedember 31, 2010, an increase of $5.2 million@¥3rom the $17.4 millio
incurred during the year ended December 31, 2008eiditures related to programs for the developroéatbroad spectrum antiviral drug i
an arenavirus antiviral drug increased $860,000%In8 million, respectively. Expenses supporting development of S246 increased $1
million from the prior year. In addition to the grams’direct expenses, our employee compensation expéengeased $925,000 as a resu
hiring additional R&D personnel. As of December 2010 and 2009, we had 57 and 49 full-time R&D penel, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 20102866, we incurred direct costs of $7.2 million2®Lmillion and $10.9 millio
respectively, on the development of 346. During the year ended December 31, 2011, watspl.4 million on internal human resoul
dedicated to the drug’development and $5.8 million mainly on manufaotyand clinical testing. During the year ended &wgber 31, 201
we spent $1.7 million on internal human resourcesliachted to the drug’ development and $10.5 million mainly on packagarmy
manufacturing. For the year ended December 31,,208%pent $1.5 million on internal human resouedicated to the drug'developmel
and $9.3 million mainly on clinical trials and mdacturing. From inception of the ST-246 developmemigram todate, we invested a total
$45.3 million in the program, of which $8.3 milli@upported internal human resources, and $37.@omilVere used mainly for manufacturi
clinical and pre-clinical work. These
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resources reflect research and development expelirsetly related to the program. They exclude tddal expenditures such as patent ¢
allocation of indirect expenses, and other servicesided by NIH and DoD.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010,2808, we incurred direct costs of $1.7 million,B2nillion and $384,00
respectively, to support the development of drugdadates for dengue fever, Lassa fever virus ahdradrug candidates for certain arenan
pathogens and hemorrhagic fevers. During the yeded December 31, 2011, $799,000 was spent omalteuman resources and $895,
was spent mainly on the optimization and chemisfrjead antiviral compounds. During the year en@etember 31, 2010, we spent §
million for dengue fever, Lassa virus and othermgdeandidates for certain arenavirus pathogens ambirhagic fevers, of which $305,000 1
mainly for internal human resources and $2.2 nrilfior medicinal chemistry and puatinical testing of our drug candidates. For tharyende
December 31, 2009, we spent $155,000 on intermalahuresources dedicated to the development of thesgs and $228,000 mainly to
testing of chemical compounds. From inception esthprograms to date, we spent a total of $10.milelated to the programs, of wh
$3.3 million and $6.7 million were expended on intd human resources and mietical work, respectively. These resources reftesearc
and development expenses directly related to tbgrams. They exclude additional expenditures sischadent costs, allocation of indir
expenses, and other services provided by NIH arid. Do

During the years ended December 31, 2011, ,2846 2009, we spent $981,000, $1.5 million and,CB8® respectively, to support
development of a broashectrum antiviral drug candidate. During the yeraled December 31, 2011, we incurred $329,000 ynaminternz
human resources and $653,000 was incurred to suppalicinal chemistry. During the year ended Decan#i, 2010, we spent $645,00(
internal human resources and $849,000 mainly omptienization of lead antiviral compounds. Duritng tyear ended December 31, 2009
spent $42,000 on internal human resources and @24x@inly on compound modeling software licensesirthe inception of our program
develop a broad-spectrum antiviral drugdette, we have spent a total of $2.5 million relatedhe program, of which $1.0 million and ¢
million were mainly expended on internal human teees and supporting medicinal chemistry and thgnogation of lead antivir:
compounds, respectively. These resources reflgmreses directly related to the program. They exchdbitional expenditures such as ps
costs, allocation of indirect expenses, and otberices provided by NIH and DoD.

The majority of our product programs are in thdyeatage of development. As a result, we cannotemalasonable estimates of
potential cost for most of our programs to be cateal or the time it will take to complete the pags. There is a high risk of nh@empletior
of any program because of the lead time to programpletion, scientific issues that may arise anceuainty of the costs. However, we cc
receive additional grants, contracts or technolam@nses in the shoterm. The potential cash and timing is not knowd @ cannot be certe
if they will ever occur. If we are unable to obtaidditional federal funding in the required amoutite development timeline for these prod
would slow or possibly be suspended.

Patent preparation expenses for the years endeeniber 31, 2011 and 2010 were $1.8 million and $dillion, respectively. Th
increase of $660,000 or 57% is mainly as a regwduo continuing efforts to protect our lead driandidates in expanded geographic territo

Patent preparation expenses for the years endedniber 31, 2010 and 2009 were $1.1 million and %X, respectively. Tt
increase of $414,000 or 56% is mainly related toefforts to protect our lead drug candidates iogyaphic territories including South Afrit
Japan, China and Europe.

Changes in the fair value of certain warrants tguae common stock are recorded as gains or lossgshe years ended Decernr
31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, we recorded a gain & ®dlion, a loss of $16.0 million and a loss of. $illion, respectively, reflecting chang
in the fair market value of warrants and rightgptochase common stock during the respective y@&es.warrants and rights to purchase
common stock were recorded at fair market valuedeskified as liabilities.

Other income for the years ended December 31, 20010, and 2009, was $13,000, $659,000 and $1r@8pectively. Other incor
normalized in 2011, after we received $648,000 fitben U.S. government in 2010 for qualified therapedrug discovery tax grant. Ott
income in 2011, 2010 and 2009 consists of inténestme on our cash and cash equivalents.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the bemefit income taxes of $36.0 million mainly refledt® tpartial release of valuati
allowance from deferred tax assets. Prior to Juh€@11, we provided a tax valuation allowanceunOnited States federal and state defe
tax assets based on our evaluation that such aseetsnot “more likely than nottb be realized. We continuously evaluated additidaets
representing positive and negative evidence indditermination of the realizability of deferred tagsets. Such deferred tax assets cc
primarily of net operating loss carryforwards aremporary differences on intangible assets, depiecisand deferred research
development costs. In the second quarter of 20ELdetermined that it was more likely than not tbattain deferred tax assets woulc
realized, mainly due to the execution of the BARDAntract, the scheduling of deferred tax assetsliabdities and future taxable incoi
from operating activities. Accordingly, we
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released a portion of the related valuation allovesinom deferred tax assets. If the current esémaf future taxable income are reduced o
realized, for example, based on the ultimate ou&ofrthe pending dispute described in Item 3, "L&gaceedings” the Comparsyassessme
regarding the realization of deferred tax assetddcohange. Future changes in the estimated anuiugferred taxes expected to be real
will be reflected in the Company’financial statements in the period the estimatehianged with a corresponding adjustment to opg
results. Changes in estimates may occur often andhave a significant favorable or unfavorable iotga the Companyg’ operating resul
from period to period. In 2011, approximately $@ndlion of previously available NOLs expired andpapximately $1.2 million expires
2012 if not utilized, with the remainder expiringvarious years between 2018 and 2031.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

On December 31, 2011, we had $49.3 million in casth cash equivalents. During the year ended DeaeB1he2011, we receiv:
$41.0 million in advance payments under the BARDgxtact and proceeds of $3.9 million from exercisewarrants and options to purch
shares of our common stock.

Operating activities

Net cash provided by operations for the year eridlecember 31, 2011 was $25.6 million and net cashl us operations during t
years ended December 31, 2010, and 2009 was $ilichrand $8.5 million, respectively. Operationsngrated net cash in 2011 primarily
to the receipt of $41 million in advance paymentsler the BARDA Contract. Cash flow from the advapegments was partially offset
several factors, including: (i) the increase ingpatexpense in our effort to protect our lead dragdidates; (ii) an increase in regulatory |
and advisory expenses; and (iii) an increase inpsareation.

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, our accounts rdseidalance was $2.6 million and $3.0 million, mexspvely. Our accou
receivable balances reflects the work performeihduXovember and December 2011 under two28%-development contracts, one of wi
concluded in September 2011, as well as work paddrin December under our dengue fever and Lassa &ativiral development contrac
Funds outstanding under these contracts were tadleturing January and February 2012. Our accquapable, accrued expenses and «
current liabilities balance were $6.9 million and.3 million on December 31, 2011 and 2010, respelsti The increase is mainly due to
estimated loss contingency of $2.0 million reldiea pending dispute (as described in Item 3, “Legaceedings”).

Investing activities
Capital expenditures during the years ended Decerbe 2011, 2010, and 2009 were approximately ¥¥BY, $550,000 ar
$340,000, respectively. The years ended Decemhe?(@1 and 2010 included several purchases anditiegtof U.S. Treasury bills.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $2.6 o] $13.2 million and $26.0 million, during theays ended December 31, 2(
2010, and 2009, respectively. During the years @érmecember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we receiverkpds of $3.9, $13.2 million and $
million, respectively, from exercises of optiongdamarrants to purchase common stock. The amouptaxfeeds received in the year er
December 31, 2011 was offset by the repurchasermfron stock to meet minimum statutory tax withhoddrequirements. Furthermore,
the year ended December 31, 2010, cash receiptsdrercises included proceeds under a letter agmeiedated June 19, 2008 (as amer
the “Letter Agreement”) with MacAndrews & ForbesCL(“M&F"), a related party, and for the year ended Decemhe2(B19, we received r
proceeds of $18.6 million from a common stock offgr

Other

We have incurred cumulative net losses and expdocur additional losses to perform further reskand development activities.
have limited capital resources and will need adddl funds to complete the development of our pctsluWe plan to fund continu
development work and operations through sourcessiti that may include: collaborative agreementategfic alliances, research grants, fu
equity and debt financing and procurement contrabitere is no assurance that we will be successfabtaining additional funding «
commercially reasonable terms. We believe thatenisting funds combined with cash flows primaritprh our procurement contract w
BARDA (see Note 3) and continuing government Gramits be sufficient to support our operations fdrleast the next twelve months.
discussed in Item 3, "Legal Proceedings", our i support our operations may be adversely &dteby the resolution of the pending disj
described in such section. Our success is depengentgenerating commercial sales and our abditylttain adequate future financing. If
are unable to raise adequate capital and/or aclpieoféable operations, future operations mightchée be scaled back or discontinued.
financial statements do not include any adjustnmeldting to the recoverability of the carrying ambwf recorded assets and liabilities
might result from the outcome of these uncertaintie
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Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments andPurchase Obligations

Future contractual obligations and commercial conm@nts as of December 31, 2011 are expected te fudlaws:

Payments due by period

Greater than 5

Total Less than 1 year 1to 3 years 3to 5 years years
Operating lease obligations $ 3,613,06 $ 558,57 $ 1,778,28. $ 1,276,21. $ —
Purchase obligations (1) 15,881,25 15,881,25 — — —
Total contractual ob|igati0ns $ 19,494,31 $ 16,439,82 $ 1,778,28. $ 1,276,21. $ —
(1) Includes facilities and office space undercagerating lease which expires in 2017. These ofitiga assume notermination o

agreements and represent expected payments, wiigilgject to change, and exclude future costmfintenance, utilities, real est
tax and other operating expenses.
2 Includes approximately $13 million of obligatiorféeeted in 2012

The above table excludes open purchase orderfdaadquisition of goods and services in the normoatse of business and vari
agreements entered into with third parties inclgdigreements to conduct clinical trials, to manwfiecproduct candidates, and for consu
and other contracted services due to the cancehalblege of the services.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance shesmtgements.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Our investment portfolio includes cash, cash edaiva and shorterm investments. Our main investment objectives t
preservation of investment capital and the maxitioneof aftertax returns on our investment portfolio. We beliévat our investment policy
conservative, both in the duration of our investtaeand the credit quality of the investments wedhdVe do not utilize derivative financ
instruments, derivative commodity instruments dneotmarket risk sensitive instruments, positiongransactions to manage exposur
interest rate changes. Accordingly, we believe, thvifle the securities we hold are subject to cleanig the financial standing of the issue
such securities and our interest income is seesitichanges in the general level of U.S. interasts, we are not subject to any material
arising from changes in interest rates, foreigmrenoy exchange rates, commodity prices, equityeprior other market changes that a
market risk sensitive instruments.
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Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of SiGg&hnologies, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bedasheets and the related consolidated statemieogertions, of changes in stockholders’
equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all evél respects, the financial position of SIGA Teclogies, Inc. and its subsidiary (
"Company") at December 31, 204thd December 31, 2010, and the results of theiradipas and their cash flows for each of the thyers i
the period ended December 31, 201 Tonformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America. Alsour
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materiajpects, effective internal control over financiggporting as of December 31, 2011, base
criteria established idnternal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadws
Commission (COSO). The Compasyhanagement is responsible for these financigrsnts, for maintaining effective internal contook!
financial reporting and for its assessment of ttiecéveness of internal control over financial oefing, included in ManagemestReport o
Internal Control over Financial Reporting undemit®A. Our responsibility is to express opinions thase financial statements and on
Companys internal control over financial reporting basedowr integrated audits. We conducted our auditecgordance with the standard
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (BditStates). Those standards require that we pldnparform the audits to obt:
reasonable assurance about whether the finaneitdnsénts are free of material misstatement and hehetffective internal control o
financial reporting was maintained in all mater@pects. Our audits of the financial statemertlhded examining, on a test basis, evid:
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the &iiahistatements, assessing the accounting prirccided and significant estimates mad
management, and evaluating the overall financé&kstent presentation. Our audit of internal corakar financial reporting included obtain
an understanding of internal control over financegorting, assessing the risk that a material wesk exists, and testing and evaluatin
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobttased on the assessed risk. Our audits aléaded performing such other procedure
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdé¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated findreti@ements, effective January 1, 2009, the Commdmanged the way certain finan
instruments that are settled in the Company’s comstock are accounted for.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @gpess designed to provide reasonable assurancaeliregthe reliability of financit
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeeacepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdinose policies and procedures that (i) pertaitnéomaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdimpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgr@paration of financial statements in accor@amdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef company are being made only in accordance withogéizations of management :
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readdaaassurance regarding prevention or timely dieteatf unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS, LLP

New York, New York
March 1, 2012
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010

2011 2010
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 49,256,93 $ 6,332,05!
Short term investments — 14,999,35
Accounts receivable 2,637,10: 3,002,14
Prepaid expenses 356,89¢ 369,01
Deferred tax assets 727,77: —
Total current assets 52,978,70 24,702,56
Property, plant and equipment, net 818,99: 1,150,25
Goodwill 898,33« 898,33«
Other assets 535,41 280,64t
Deferred tax assets, net 35,149,03 —
Total assets $ 90,380,47 $ 27,031,80
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,278,311 $ 2,884,25!
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 4,644,46. 1,378,92
Total current liabilities 6,922,77 4,263,18!
Deferred revenue 41,001,11 —
Common stock warrants 622,93t 10,524,66
Deferred tax liability — 175,17!
Other liabilities 147,58t —
Total liabilities 48,694,41 14,963,01
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock ($.0001 par value, 100,000,000 sharé®rized, 51,637,352 and 49,019,443 issued atstiamaing at December 3
2011, and December 31, 2010, respectively) 5,16¢ 4,90z
Additional paid-in capital 150,551,21 134,524,30
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 4,067
Accumulated deficit (108,870,30) (122,464,48)
Total stockholders’ equity 41,686,06 12,068,78
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 9038047 $  27,031,80

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.

39




Table of Contents

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 200

2011 2010 2009
Revenues
Research and development $ 12,725,79  $ 19,21583 $ 13,811,85
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative 23,931,71 8,130,66! 7,533,16
Research and development 18,367,34 22,658,95 17,423,45
Patent preparation fees 1,808,16: 1,148,59° 734,16!
Total operating expenses 44,107,22 31,938,22 25,690,78
Operating loss (31,381,43) (12,722,38) (11,878,92)
Decrease (increase) in fair value of common stoakants 8,930,901 (15,957,06) (7,522,86))
Other income, net 13,06: 659,29: 1,431
Loss before income taxes $ (22,437,47) $ (28,020,16) $  (19,400,35)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 36,031,64 (175,179 —
Net income (loss) 13,594,17 (28,195,33) (19,400,35)
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 021 $ 062 $ (0.52)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.0¢ $ 062 $ (0.52)
Weighted average shares outstanding: basic 50,929,49 45,151,77. 37,463,25
Weighted average shares outstanding: diluted 54,061,65 45,151,77 37,463,25

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’

For the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 200

EQUITY

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid - In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity
Balances, December 31, 2008 35,383,722 $ 3,53¢ 72,156,61 $ (72,158,79) $ — 1,361
Net loss (19,400,35) (19,400,35)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stockapt
and warrants 4,952,571 49t 7,419,73 7,420,23.
N et proceeds from the issuance of 2,725,339 shéres o
common stock ($7.35 per share)

2,725,33! 273 18,565,14 18,565,42
Stock based compensation 2,141,77: 2,141,77:
Fair value of exercised common stock warrants 1,715,76! 1,715,76!
Recognition of deferred transaction costs (581,35¢) (581,35¢)
Cumulative effect of accounting change (2,710,001 (2,710,00i)
Balances, December 31, 2009 43,061,63 4,30¢ 101,417,67 (94,269,14) — 7,152,83
Net loss (28,195,33) (28,195,33)
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-term
investments 4,067 4,067
Comprehensive loss (28,191,27)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stockapt
and warrants 5,957,80! 59¢ 13,196,39 13,196,99
Stock based compensation 1,483,95! 1,483,95!
Fair value of exercised common stock warrants 18,426,27. 18,426,27
Balances, December 31, 2010 49,019,44 4,90z 134,524,30 (122,464,48) 4,067 12,068,78
Net income 13,594,17 13,594,17
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-term
investments (4,067 (4,067
Comprehensive income 13,590,10
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stockapt
and warrants 2,123,45. 21z 3,946,02- 3,946,23
Stock based compensation 700,00( 70 12,463,70 12,463,77
Tax obligation from stock-based compensation (205,54Y) (21) (1,353,63) (1,353,65))
Fair value of exercised common stock warrants 970,81t 970,81t
Balances, December 31, 2011 51,637,335 $ 5,16¢ 150,551,21 $ (108,870,30) $ — 41,686,06

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 200

2011 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 13,594,17 $ (28,19533) $  (19,400,35)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)@bcash used in operating activities
Depreciation and other amortization 568,28t 625,34 475,09:
(Decrease) increase in fair valuavafrants (8,930,90) 15,947,00 7,522,86!
Stock based compensation 12,463,77 1,483,95! 2,141,77.
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 365,04: (596,28)) (446,25))
Prepaid expenses 12,11¢ 1,216,05! (192,469
Other assets (254,769 24,10: (20,89
Deferred income taxes, net (36,051,97) 175,17! —
Accounts payable, accrued egps and other current liabilities 2,659,59 (125,929 1,181,77
Deferred revenue 41,001,11 — —
Other liabilities 147,58t (1,379,47) 267,63«
Net cash provided by (used in) opegaéctivities 25,574,03 (10,825,38) (8,470,82)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (237,02) (549,94, (340,729
Proceeds from maturity of short term investis 40,000,000 31,250,00 —
Purchases of short term investments (25,004,71) (41,235,92) (4,999,301
Net cash provided by (used in) ingshctivities 14,758,226 (10,535,86) (5,340,02)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from exercise of warrants gtibns 3,946,23 13,196,99 7,420,23:
Proceeds from issuance of securities — — 18,565,42
Repurchase of common stock (1,353,65) — —
Net cash provided by financing atias 2,592,58: 13,196,99 25,985,65
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equigalent 42,924,87 (8,164,26) 12,174,79
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 6,332,05: 14,496,31 2,321,51
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 49,256,93 $ 6,332,05. $ 14,496,31
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing &a:
Reclass of common stock warrant liability to diddal paid-in capital upon warrant exercise $ 970,81t $  18,42627 $ 1,715,76!

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Description of Busines:

SIGA Technologies, Inc. (“SIGA” or the “Company?§ a pharmaceutical company specializing in theetigpment and commercialization
pharmaceutical solutions for some of the most lefigease-causing pathogens in the worsinallpox, Ebola, dengue, Lassa fever and
dangerous viruses. The Company aims to discoveelde, manufacture and successfully commercialipggito prevent and treat these high-
priority threats. The Company's mission is to disareaded viral diseases and create robust, mbdisiefense countermeasures.

Basis of presentatiol
The consolidated financial statements are preséntadcordance with generally accepted accountiivggiples in the United States of Amer
(“US GAAP”) and reflect the consolidated finangpalsition, results of operations and cash flowsatbperiods presented.

The consolidated financial statements have beepapee on a basis which assumes that the Compahgantinue as a going concern
which contemplates the realization of assets aad#hisfaction of liabilities and commitments i thormal course of business. The Com|
has incurred cumulative net losses and expectscir iadditional losses to perform further reseanctt development activities. The Comp
has limited capital resources and will need addéldunds to complete the development of its prégludanagement plans to fund contint
development work and operations through sourcessli that may include: collaborative agreementategjic alliances, research grants, fL
equity and debt financing, procurement contracts gash and investments on hand. There is no asguthat the Company will be succes
in obtaining future financing on commercially reaable terms. Management believes that existingsuwmbined with cash flows primat
from its procurement contract with the BiomedicalvAnce Research and Development Authority (‘“BARDASge Note 3) and continui
government grants and contracts (collectively, ads " )will be sufficient to support its operations forlaast the next twelve months. -
success of the Company is dependent upon geneingercial sales and the Compangbility to obtain adequate future financing.Hgé
Company is unable to raise adequate capital amadfieve profitable operations, future operationghthineed to be scaled back or discontin
The financial statements do not include any adjestsirelating to the recoverability of the carryemgount of recorded assets and liabil
that might result from the outcome of these unaetits.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to pear smounts to conform to 2011 presentation.

Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements and relateclasures are prepared in conformity with accaunprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America. Management is requirethade estimates and assumptions that affect tretegbamounts of assets and liabilit
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethe date of the financial statements and revama expenses during the period reported
most significant estimates include the variablesdug the calculation of fair value for outstandimgtions and warrants granted or issued b
Company; reported amounts of revenue and expeimspairment of goodwill, intangibles and lotiged assets, and the realization of defe
tax assets. Estimates and assumptions are revigevertlically and the effects of revisions are retibel in the financial statements in the pe
they are determined to be necessary. Actual resoltil differ from these estimates.

Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Markiele Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith original maturities of three months or lesshie cash equivalents. Highly lig
investments with maturities greater than three mmorand less than one year are classified as tromtinvestments. Such investments
generally money market funds, bank certificatedegosit, and U.S. Treasury bills.

The Company classifies short-term investments arkatable securities with readily determinable fesdues as “available-for-sale”
Investments in securities that are classified asl@ve-forsale are measured at fair market value in the balaheet and unrealized holc
gains and losses on investments are reportedegsasade component of stockholders’ equity untilized.

As of December 31, 2010 the Company’s short-teedtments consisted of $15.0 million of availaldedale United States Treasury B
The unrealized gain relating to these investmeiais iwmmaterial.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company has cash in baakcounts that exceed the Federal Deposit Insur@urporation insured limits. The Company has
experienced any losses on its cash accounts. Neatlce has been provided for potential credit bésEause management believes tha
such losses would be minimal. The Company’s acaopayable consist of trade payables due to creditor

Property, Plant and Equipmer

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestpfnaccumulated depreciation. Depreciation isvided on a straighline method over tt
estimated useful lives of the various asset clasBles estimated useful lives are as follows: 5 gdar laboratory equipment; 3 years
computer equipment; and 7 years for furniture axiifes. Leasehold improvements are amortized theeshorter of the estimated useful i
of the assets or the lease term. Maintenance,rseail minor replacements are charged to experinewased.

Revenue Recognitio

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred, teasféixed or determinable, collectabi
is reasonably assured, contractual obligations haea satisfied and title and risk of loss havenkiesnsferred to the customer. The Comj
recognizes revenue from non-refundablefigot payments, not tied to achieving a specificf@anance milestone, over the period which
Company is obligated to perform services or basethe percentage of costs incurred to date, estin@bsts to complete and total expe
contract revenue. Payments for development a@s/dire recognized as revenue as earned, overribd péeffort. Funding for the acquisiti
of capital assets under cost-pfes Grants is evaluated for appropriate recognitisna reduction to the cost of the asset, a fing
arrangement, or revenue based on the specific teftiie related grant or contract. Substantiveskt-milestone payments, which are base
achieving a specific performance milestone, aregrized as revenue when the milestone is achienédre related payment is due, provic
there is no future service obligation associateth what milestone. In situations in which the Compaeceives payment in advance of
performance of services, such amounts are defanméddecognized as revenue as the related serviegedormed.

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, ab@, 28venues from National Institutes of Health Iy} and BARDA Grants was 96
91% and 100%, respectively, of total revenues neizegl by the Company.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable are recorded net of provisimnsgdoubtful accounts. At December 31, 2011 and02aD0% and 87%, respectively,
accounts receivables represented receivables fritnaNd BARDA. An allowance for doubtful accountshiased on specific analysis of
receivables. At December 31, 2011, 2010, and 20@9Company had no allowance for doubtful accounts.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses include cogstlgiattributable to the conduct of research aesletbpment programs, includi
employee related costs, materials, supplies, digi@e on and maintenance of research equipmeetcdist of services provided by out:
contractors, including services related to the Camyfs clinical trials and facility costs, such as raritlities, and general support services.
costs associated with research and developmenexgrensed as incurred. Costs related to the adquisif technology rights, for whi
development work is still in process, and that hawealternative future uses, are expensed as exdurr

Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment asteannually or as circumstances warrant. The impsit review process compares
fair value of the reporting unit in which goodwiltsides to its carrying value. The Company operasesne business and one reporting
Therefore, the goodwill impairment analysis is perfed on the basis of the Company as a whole, usiagnarket capitalization of t
Company as an estimate of its fair value.

Share-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for all shased payment awards made to employees and dgdstdetermined on the grant date;
options awards, fair value is estimated using tleelBScholes model. The value of the portion of the awhat is ultimately expected to ves
recorded as expense over the requisite serviced=eimn the Company’s consolidated statement ofatjoers.

These compensation costs are recognized net oftanated forfeiture rate over the requisite serypeeiods of the awards. Forfeitures
estimated on the date of the respective grant ewided if actual or expected forfeiture activitjfelis materially from original estimates.
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Income Taxes

The Company recognizes income taxes utilizing tbeetaand liability method of accounting for incotages. Under this method, defer
income taxes are recorded for temporary differetegween financial statement carrying amounts Aeddx basis of assets and liabilitie
enacted tax rates expected to be in effect foydaes in which the differences are expected torseved valuation allowance is established
is more likely than not that some or the entireedefd tax asset will not be realized. The recognitif a valuation allowance for deferred te
requires management to make estimates and judgmeots the Company’s future profitability which @anéerently uncertain.

The Company applies the applicable authoritatividace which prescribes a comprehensive modehntanner in which a company shc
recognize, measure, present and disclose in idial statements all material uncertain tax pms#tithat the Company has taken or expes
take on a tax return. The Company has no tax pasitior which it is reasonably possible that thtaltamounts of unrecognized tax ben:
will significantly increase or decrease within twelmonths from December 31, 2011. The Company fidderal income tax returns and incc
tax returns in various state and local tax jurigdits. The open tax years for U.S. federal, statélacal tax returns is generally 2002011
open tax years relating to unused NOLs begin in7199 the event that the Company concludes thist $ubject to interest and/or penal
arising from uncertain tax positions, the Compatrily present interest and penalties as a componinicome taxes. No amounts of interes
penalties were recognized in the Company’s conatditl financial statements for each of the yeatkerthreeyear period ended December
2011.

Net Loss per Shar

The Company computes, presents and discloses garmiar share in accordance with the authoritativelance which specifies t
computation, presentation and disclosure requirésnien earnings per share of entities with publieéld common stock or potential comn
stock. The objective of basic EPS is to measur@én®mrmance of an entity over the reporting pebgdlividing income (loss) by the weigh
average shares outstanding. The objective of dil&esS is consistent with that of basic EPS, extegitit also gives effect to all potentie
dilutive common shares outstanding during the pkrio

The following is a reconciliation of the basic aditited net income (loss) per share computation:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net income (loss) for basic EPS $ 13594,17 $ (28,195,33) $ (19,400,35)
Change in fair value of warrants 8,930,901 — —
Net income (loss), adjusted for change in fair gadfiwarrants for diluted EPS ~ $ 4,663,271 $ (28,195,33) $ (19,400,35)
Weighted-average shares: basic 50,929,49 45,151,77 37,463,25
Effect of potential common shares 3,132,15! — —
Weighted-average shares: diluted 54,061,64 45,151,77 37,463,25
Earnings (loss) per share: basic $ 021 $ (0.62) $ (0.52)
Earnings (loss) per share: diluted $ 0.0¢ % (0.62) $ (0.52)
Anti-dilutive employee share-based awards, excluded 504,66¢ — —

The diluted earnings per share calculation refldutseffect of the assumed exercise of outstandiigants and the corresponding elimina
of the benefit included in operating results frdre thange in fair value of the warrants. Dilutedrsb outstanding include the dilutive effec
in-the-money options and warrants, unvested restrictecksiod restricted stock units. The dilutive effetsuch equity awards is calcula
based on the average share price for each fiscaddpasing the treasury stock method. Under thasuey stock method, the amount
employee must pay for exercising stock options, aherage amount of compensation cost for futurgicerhat the Company has not
recognized, and the amount of tax benefits thatldvdne recorded in additional paid-capital when the award becomes deductible
collectively assumed to be used to repurchase shaith the change in fair market value reportedhi@ operating results of the respec
period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalentspuatts payable and accrued expenses approximategfae due to the relatively sh
maturity of these instruments. Common stock wasramthich are classified as liabilities are recor@edheir fair market value as of ei
reporting period.

The measurement of fair value requires the usedfitiques based on observable and unobservabls igposervable inputs
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reflect market data obtained from independent ssjrevhile unobservable inputs reflect our marketuasptions. The inputs create
following fair value hierarchy:

« Level 1 -Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets

« Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instrumeintsictive markets; quoted prices for identicaliamigr instruments in markets that are
not active; and model-derived valuations where isue observable or where significant value ds\ae observable.

e Level 3 nstruments where significant value drivers arehsgovable to third partie

The Company uses modgérived valuations where inputs are observablefiveamarkets to determine the fair value of cerammon stoc
warrants on a recurring basis and classify suchiamés in Level 2. The Company utilizes the Bl&itoles model consisting of the follow
variables: (i) the closing price of SIG&\common stock; (ii) the expected remaining lifettod warrant; (iii) the expected volatility usin
weighted-average of historical volatilities fromcambination of SIGA and comparable companies; andthe riskfree market rate. s
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the &uievof such warrants was $622,938 and $10,524;E88ified as nowurrent comma
stock warrants on the balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company held appraely&15.0 million in United States Treasury Biltdassified as a Level 1 security.
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, SiGAatihold any Level 3 securities.

Segment Informatior

The Company is managed and operated as one busiiesentire business is managed by a single mamageteam that reports to the cl
executive officer. The Company does not operatarseép lines of business or separate businessesntitith respect to any of its prod
candidates. Accordingly, the Company does not peegiscrete financial information with respect &parate product areas or by location
only has one reportable segment.

Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting Princigs

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the pomgsif the authoritative guidance for derivatived aedging. The cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle recorded by the Camggn connection with certain warrants to acqshiares of the Comparsytommon stoc
was recognized as an adjustment to the openingdmlaf accumulated deficit as summarized in thiefiohg table:

As reported on As adjusted on Effect of change

December 31, 2008  January 1, 2009 in accounting
Common stock warrants $ — 2,710,000 $ 2,710,00!
Accumulated deficit (72,158,79) (74,868,79) (2,710,00)

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Statsl&oard (the “FASB”)ssued updated accounting guidance, which amendiemce o
how to test goodwill for impairment. This updatearpés an entity to first assess qualitative factorsletermine whether it is more likely tt
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is Iésan its carrying amount as a basis for deterrgimihether it is necessary to perform a tstef
goodwill impairment test. The updated guidanceffisctive for annual impairment tests performedigtédl years beginning after December
2011 with early adoption permitted. SIGA expects tihe adoption of this guidance will not have aerial impact on its consolidated finan:
statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued additional guidancdadinvalue measurements that clarifies the apptioaof existing guidance and disclos
requirements, changes certain fair value measurepmigrciples and requires additional disclosuresuglfair value measurements. The upd
guidance is effective during interim and annuaigebbeginning after December 15, 2011. SIGA exp#us the adoption of this guidance
not have a material impact on its consolidatedniona statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued updated accougtiigance for fair value measurements. This uppiaieides amendments that require
disclosure as follows: (1) A reporting entity shibdisclose separately the amounts of significaartdfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair-
value measurements and describe the reasons fotrahsfers. (2) In the reconciliation for fair valumeasurements using signific
unobservable inputs (Level 3), a reporting entitgidd present separately information about purchasaes, issuances, and settlements (t!

on a gross basis rather than as one net numbds).update provides amendments that clarify existiisglosures as follows: (1) A report
entity should provide faivalue measurement disclosures for each class efsaard liabilities. A class is often a subsetssess or liabilitie
within a line item in the statement of financial
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position. A reporting entity needs to use judgmieandetermining the appropriate classes of assetdiahilities. (2) A reporting entity shot
provide disclosures about the valuation technigaled inputs used to measure fair value for both rrexy and nonrecurring fair val
measurements. Those disclosures are required ifovdlue measurements that fall in either Levelr2Level 3. The new disclosures
clarifications of existing disclosures are effeetifor interim and annual reporting periods begignafter December 15, 2009, except for
disclosures about purchases, sales, issuancesseatiements in the roll-forward of activity in Ldv8 fair-value measurements. Th
disclosures are effective for fiscal years begigrafter December 15, 2010, and for interim periithin those fiscal years. The Company
adopted the amendments, and such adoption hagda material impact on the consolidated finarstatiements.

3. Procurement Contract and Research Agreements
Procurement Contrac

In May 2011, the Company signed the BARDA Contraatsuant to which SIGA agreed to deliver two miilicourses of SP46 to the U.¢
Strategic National Stockpile (the “Strategic StatK)). The fiveyear base contract award is worth approximately5$dsllion, and th
BARDA Contract also includes various options toexercised at BARD/As discretion. As originally issued, the BARDA Catr included a
option for the purchase of up to 12 million additd courses of SP46; however, following a protest by a competitbthe Company, BARD.
issued a contract modification on June 24, 2015yant to which it deleted the option to purchagedtiditional courses. Under the BAR
Contract as modified, BARDA has agreed to buy fisisA 1.7 million courses of SZ46. Additionally, SIGA will contribute to BARD
300,000 courses manufactured using federal fundsiged by the U.S. Department of Health and HumanviSes (“HHS”) under prio
development contracts. The BARDA Contract as medifilso contains options that will permit SIGA tntinue its work on pediatric a
geriatric versions of the drug as well as use28%-for smallpox prophylaxis. As described in Niofle the amount of profits SIGA is likely
retain pursuant to the BARDA Contract is dependgun resolution of a pending dispute.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, SIGA received apjmately $41 million as advance payments under tARBA Contract. The terms of t
BARDA Contract require that the Company meets vegiperformance conditions and delivery requireméedtiectively, the "Conditions"
The advance payments are refundable if SIGA faiksiifill the Conditions. These amounts are recdrdes deferred revenue as of Decembe
2011. In accordance with generally accepted acamyrgrinciples, the Company will not be able toaguaize revenue under the BARI
Contract until the Conditions have been satisfigidect costs incurred by the Company to fulfill theguirements under the BARDA Conti
are being deferred and will be recognized as arrmesg as the related revenue is recognized. As cérbleer 31, 2011, deferred direct c
under the BARDA Contract of approximately $250,@00 included in non-current other assets.

Research Agreemen

The Company obtains funding from the Grants it mistdrom NIH and BARDA to support its research atevelopment activities. Curreni
the Company has four active Grants with varyingimtion dates through July 2016 that provide foteptial future aggregate research
development funding for specific projects of appnuately $25.3 million. This amount includes, amastger things, options that may or n
not be exercised at the U.S. government’s disarefibe Grants contain customary terms and conditiocluding the U.S. Governmesttigh
to terminate a grant for convenience.

4. Stockholders’ Equity

On December 31, 2011, the Companguthorized share capital consisted of 110,000s6@@es, of which 100,000,000 are designated cor
shares and 10,000,000 are designated preferredssiidre Compang’'Board of Directors is authorized to issue preférshares in series w
rights, privileges and qualifications of each sedetermined by the Board.

2009 Financing
On December 9, 2009, the Company entered into &phiso Agreements for the sale of 2,725,339 shafédhe Companys common stock, p
value $0.0001 per share, at a purchase price 86%r share. Net proceeds to the Company wer@xipmately $18.6 million.

2008 Financing

On June 19, 2008, SIGA entered into a letter agee¢ifas amended, the “Letter Agreemetitgt expired on June 19, 2010, with MacAndr
& Forbes LLC (“M&F"), a related party, for M&F's aomitment to invest, at SIGA’s discretion or at M&Foption, up to $8 million
exchange for (i) SIGA common stock and (ii) wargattt purchase 40% of the number of SIGA sharesieaby M&F. On June 18, 20!
M&F notified SIGA of its intention to exercise itight to invest $5.5 million, the remaining amowvailable under the Letter Agreem
following earlier investments and entered into ddbred Closing and Registration Rights
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Agreement dated as of June 18, 2010 with the Coyng@n July 26, 2010, upon satisfaction of certaistomary closing conditions, includi
the expiration of the applicable waiting period uant to the Hart-ScoReodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as anehd&F fundes
the $5.5 million purchase price to SIGA in exchafigethe issuance of (i) 1,797,386 shares of comistock and (ii) warrants to purch
718,954 shares of SIGA common stock at an exeprise of $3.519 per share. The number of sharesilide pursuant to the warrants gra
under the Letter Agreement, as well as the exemrise of those warrants, may be subject to adjestras a result of the effect of future eq
issuances on certain anti-dilution provisions ia telated warrant agreements.

In 2009, SIGA issued to M&F 816,993 shares of comrstmck and 326,797 warrants to acquire commorkstoexchange for total procee
of $2.5 million. The warrants are exercisable fdean of four years from issuance for an exerciseepof $3.519 per share. The numbe
shares issuable pursuant to the warrants grantéer the Letter Agreement, as well as the exerdige pf those warrants, may be subje«
adjustment as a result of the effect of future ggigsuances on certain anti-dilution provisionshie warrant agreements.

In addition and in consideration for the commitmehtM&F reflected in the Letter Agreement, on Jurs 2008, M&F received warrants
purchase 238,000 shares of SIGA common stockailyitexercisable at $3.06 (the “Commitment Warrgnt¥he number of shares issue
pursuant to the warrants granted under the Lettgedment, as well as the exercise price of thoseaws, may be subject to adjustment
result of the effect of future equity issuancesaemtain antidilution provisions in the Letter Agreement. Then@uitment Warrants a
exercisable until June 19, 2012. The Company Ihjtiecorded all costs related to the Letter Agreetn including the fair value of t
Commitment Warrants, as deferred transaction ctiisn the issuance of common stock and warranpsitchase shares of common stoc
April 30, 2009, the Company recorded a reductioitsimdditional paid-in capital for the effect bktrelated transaction costs.

The Company determined that the warrants poteptisduable to M&F under the Letter Agreement wee “indexed to the Company’owr
stock” prior to their issuance in accordance with the aditiitive guidance. As a result, warrants potelytigsuable under the Letter Agreenr
met the definition of a derivative and were recadrds a liability on the Comparg/balance sheet (also refer to Cumulative Effe@ludinges i
Accounting Principle in Note 2). Management detemxdi that, upon issuance, the warrants do not nmeetéfinition of a derivative ar
consequently, the warrants are reflected as e@itpecember 31, 2010. The Company recorded a b$4.a4 million for the year end
December 31, 2010 representing the increase ifathealue of the warrants from January 1, 2010tigh the date of issuance.

2006 and 2005 Placements

In 2006 and 2005 the Company sold shares of itsmamstock and warrants to purchase shares of constook. In 2006, the Company iss
1,000,000 warrants with an initial exercise pri€&4.99 per share (the “2006 Warrantd) 2005, the Company issued 1,000,000 warrants
an initial exercise price of $1.18 per share (tB@05 Warrants”)As of December 31, 2010, all of the 2005 Warramtgehbeen exercised ¢
issued. The 2006 Warrants may be exercised thranghincluding October 19, 2013. Due to the efféaestain antidilution provisions in suc
warrants, the Company adjusted the number of shissaable under the 2006 Warrants by 706,302 thr@ecember 31, 2011. The exer
prices of the warrants issued in these placemeate @aiso adjusted. At December 31, 2011, 815,56Be02006 Warrants at an exercise f
of $2.92 were outstanding. The number of sharemide pursuant to the Warrants may be subjectrthduadjustment as a result of the ef
of future equity issuances on anti-dilution proeiss in the related warrant agreements.

The Company accounted for the 2006 and 2005 Warriantccordance with the authoritative guidancectvhiequires that frestanding
derivative financial instruments that require nastt settlement be classified as assets or ligsilét the time of the transaction, and record
their fair value. Any changes in the fair valuetlod derivative instruments are reported in earnorgsss as long as the derivative contract
classified as assets or liabilities. At December ZI11, the fair market value of the 2006 Warramés $623,000. The Company applied
Black-Scholes model to calculate the fair values of d#spective derivative instruments using the contedderm of the warrants. Managerr
estimates the expected volatility using a combaratdf the Companyg’ historical volatility and the volatility of a gup of comparab
companies. For the year ended December 31, 20d Gdampany recorded a gain of $ 8.9 millasa result of a net decrease in fair value i
2006 Warrants.
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5. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes net loss adjustedhtoichange in net unrealized gain (loss) on dieont- investments. For the years er
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the components of @imapsive income were:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Net income (loss) $ 1359417 $ (28,195,33)
Unrealized (loss) gain on securities (4,067 4,067
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 13590,10 $ (28,191,27)

6. Stock Compensation Plans

In May 2010, the Company adopted its 2010 Stoclertige Plan (the “2010 Plan”gs amended in February 2012, to supersede its
Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (ti896 Plan”).The 2010 Plan provides for the granting of up @0R2,000 shares of t
Companys common stock to employees, consultants and eutsiéctors of the Company. The awards that magrbeided under the 20
Plan include: incentive stock options (“ISOsfijpnqualified stock options; stock appreciation tighestricted stock units; shares of restri
stock; and shares of unrestricted stock.

Stock option awards provide holders the right tochase shares of Common Stock at prices deternfipeétde Compensation Committee
must have an exercise price equal to or in excésiseofair market value of the Compasycommon stock at the date of grant. The ve
period for options granted under the 2010 Plangpithose granted to outside directors, is detethlyy the Compensation Committee of
Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee alstermines the expiration date of each equity dwhowever, ISOs may not
exercisable more than ten years after the dateamft.gThe maximum term of equity awards issued utitee2010 Plan is ten years.

The fair value of option grants were estimatedchatdate of grant during the years ended Decemhe2@1l, 2010, and 2009 based upor
following weighted average assumptions:

2011 2010 2009
Expected volatility 76.41% 80.21% 81.4(%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Risk-free interest rate 1.948% 2.1€% 2.21%
Expected life 6 year: 5 year: 5 year:

Expected volatility has been estimated using a éoation of the Company’ historical volatility and the historical volatyli of a group ¢
comparable companies, both using historical peremigsvalent to the optiongxpected lives. The expected dividend yield assiomp$ base
on the Company’s intent not to issue a dividenthinforeseeable future. The riélee interest rate assumption is based upon olsémteres
rates for securities with maturities approximatihg options’expected lives. The expected life was estimateddas historical experience ¢
expectation of employee exercise behavior in theréugiving consideration to the contractual teohte award.

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, ab@} Be Company recorded compensation expense2ab $illion, $1.5 million and $2
million, respectively, related to employees anckdiors equity awards. The total fair value of stopkions vested during each year was
million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million for 2011, 20 and 2009, respectively. The total fair valugesftricted stock and restricted stock L
vested during the yeamded December 31, 2011 was $10.0 million; thenewe grants of restricted stock or restrictedlstamits in previou
years. The weighte-average grant-date fair value of awards grantesi$td.70, $4.95 and $4.29 for 2011, 2010 and 2@3pectively.
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A summary of the stock option activity under thd@@&nd 1996 Plans is as follows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Life Intrinsic Value
Options Price (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 4,719,620 $ 3.02
Granted 382,50( 10.81
Forfeited (927,500 2.8¢
Exercised (1,374,83) 2.5C
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 2,799,79. $ 4.3¢ 6.0¢ $ 782,02
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2011 2,510,34 $ 4.11 57¢ $ 721,15!
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 2,009,29 §$ 4.1¢ 55 % 711,48t

As of December 31, 2011 , $1.5 million of total ening unrecognized stodkased compensation cost related to stock optiogspscted to t
recognized over the weightederage remaining requisite service period of ¥&&rs. The total intrinsic value of stock optioxereised wa
$315,000, $19.6 million and $7.0 million for theaye ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, resgect he intrinsic value represents
amount by which the market price of the underlystack exceeds the exercise price of an option.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, 500,000 of thenfi2my’s outstanding options, respectively, were subjecsgecific performant
conditions which included revenue thresholds agdlegory approval of our lead drug candidate. Thasténs are not exercisable at Decer
31, 2011.

During 2011, the Company granted 700,000 shareestficted stock and restricted stock units at &gied-average gramtate fair value ¢
$14.26. All such shares were vested during 2011.

The following table summarizes information aboutnaats outstanding at December 31, 2011

Number of Weighted Average

Warrants Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 3,155,53° $ 2.1¢€
Granted — —
Exercised (843,68 2.12
Canceled / Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 231185 $ 3.2¢

Warrants represent the right to purchase shar€®wimon Stock at contractual exercise prices. A3exfember 31, 2011, all outstanding
warrants are exercisable.

7. Related Party Transactions

On December 1, 2009, the Company entered into diteOService Agreement with an affiliate of M&F toccupy office space f
approximately $8,000 per month. The agreementnsealable upon 60 days notice by SIGA or the af@lidn June 2011, the Office Servi
Agreement was amended due to expanded use of bpdhe Company. This amendment increase the Congpamnthly payment to $11,0
per month. During the years ended December 31, 2012010, the Company incurred costs of $115,0@D$%100,000 under the Offi
Services Agreement. An amendment in February 20dr2ased the monthly payment to $12,000 to appatglyireflect expanded use of spe

A member of the Company’s Board of Directors is @mber of the Compang’outside counsel. During the years ended DeceBthe2011

2010, and 2009, the Company incurred costs of $8lion, $2.7 million and $1.8 million, respectiyelrelated to services provided by
outside counsel. On December 31, 2011, the Companytstanding payables included $301,000 payalifeetoutside counsel.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of thefdglg at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010
Laboratory equipment $ 2,578,66; $ 2,573,17
Leasehold improvements 3,187,41! 3,055,10!
Computer equipment 375,19! 297,50(
Furniture and fixtures 332,42 310,89¢
6,473,69! 6,236,67!
Less - accumulated depreciation (5,654,70) (5,086,41)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 818,99: $ 1,150,25
9. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities isbed of the following at December 31, 2011 and®01
2011 2010
Vacation $ 222,70t $ 207,71
Bonus 1,067,001 50,00(
Legal 160,00( 590,00(
Loss contingency 2,050,001 —
Other 1,144,75! 531,20«
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 4,644,46. $ 1,378,92

10. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company'’s deddlax assets and liabilities are comprised ofdhewing:

2011 2010
Deferred income tax assets:
Net operating losses $ 32,109,37 $ 25,339,99
Deferred research and development costs 3,674,46! 4,716,45!
Amortization of intangible assets 1,814,27. 2,202,03
Share-based compensation 1,417,09: —
Depreciation 777,95 827,83t
Other 896,25: 80,41¢
Deferred income tax assets 40,689,41 33,166,74
Less: valuation allowance (4,629,23) (33,166,74)
Deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allmea $ 36,060,17 $ —
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Amortization of goodwiill (183,379 (175,179
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), net $ 35,876,80 $ (175,179

As of December 31, 2011, we generated federal petating loss carryforwards of $90.6 million to s#ft future taxable income. In 20
approximately $0.9 million of previously availabMOLs expired and approximately $1.2 million expiies2012 if not utilized, with tF
remainder expiring in various years between 201B2081. As a result of a previous change in stogkavship, the annual utilization of the
operating loss carryforwards for years prior to 200ay be subject to limitation. In addition, we 8&#700,000 of federal net operating
carryforwards attributable to the excess tax dednston stock option activity that will be realizad a benefit to Additional Paid-Capita
when they reduce income taxes payable.

The recognition of a valuation allowance for defertaxes requires management to make estimatgsdgridents about the
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Companys future profitability which are inherently uncénaDeferred tax assets are reduced by a valuallowance when, in the opinion
management, it is more likely than not that somei@o or all of the deferred tax assets will notrbalized.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpanorded an income tax benefit of $36.0 milligmarily due to a partial reduction
its valuation allowance as a significant portionitsf deferred tax assets became realizable on a-fikely-thannot basis as a result of -
execution of the BARDA Contract and the resultingetasts of préax earnings. The Company maintains a valuatiawalhce of $4.6 millio
with respect to certain net operating losses ahdraleferred tax assets which may expire prioe#dization. If the current estimates of fut
taxable income are reduced or not realized, formpte, based on the ultimate outcome of the pendisgute described in Note 11,
Companys assessment regarding the realization of deféaedssets could change. Future changes in thmatstl amount of deferred ta
expected to be realized will be reflected in thanPanys financial statements in the period the estimatehianged with a correspond
adjustment to operating results. Changes in estisnatay occur often and can have a significant &leror unfavorable impact on
Company’s operating results from period to period.

The Company’s effective tax rate differs from th&SUFederal Statutory income tax rate of 35% devial:

2011 2010

Statutory federal income tax rate (35)% (39)%
State tax benefit — % (2%
Loss from fair value of common warrants (19)% 189 %
Share-based compensation 8% — %
Other — % 2%
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets (120% 14%

Effective tax rate (162)% (1)%

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201@dhmpanys effective tax rate differs from the federal staty rate principally due to tl
partial reversal of its valuation allowance, neeigting losses and other differences for which eoefit was recorded, state taxes and «
permanent differences. For all years presented;ubtrent year provision was not material.

Other Income, net, for the year ended Decembe2@10, includes $648,000 awarded to the CompanyruheeU.S. Governmerst’Qualifiec
Discovery Tax Credit program.

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating lease commitments
The Company leases its Corvallis, Oregon, facilinad office space under an operating lease whashamended in 2011 and expires in 2

This lease contains annual escalation clauseswedrrovisions and generally requires us to palties, insurance, taxes and other oper:
expenses. Future minimum rental commitments undefraancelable operating leases as of Decembel031, &e expected to be as follows:

2012 $ 558,57:
2013 575,32¢
2014 592,58t
2015 610,36¢
2016 628,67"
Thereafter 647,53
Total $ 3,613,06

Rental expense, including charges for maintenaritides, real estate taxes and other operatingeasps, totaled $827,000, $737,000
$629,000 for the years ended December 31, 201D 20d 2009, respectively.
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In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAthefitf)l an action against us in the Delaware Coti€loancery captioneBharmAthene,
Inc. v. SSIGA Technologies, Inc ., C.A. No. 2627N. In its amended complaint, PharmAthene asks th&tGo demand SIGA enter into a lice
agreement with PharmAthene with respect to2d8®%; as well as issue a declaration that SIGA Igyet to execute such a license agreer
and award damages resulting from SI&Aupposed breach of that obligation. PharmAthdése aleges that SIGA breached an obligatic
negotiate such a license agreement in good fadthyedl as seeks damages for promissory estoppelajudt enrichment based on supp¢
information, capital and assistance that PharmAghahegedly provided to SIGA during the negotiatiprocess. A trial was held
PharmAthene’s claims in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court of Chancery issuepass-trial opinion. The Court denied PharmAthenequests for specific performance
expectation damages measured by the present viahstimated future profits. However, the Court hibldt SIGA breached its duty to negot
in good faith and was liable under the doctrinepodmissory estoppel. The Court consequently awatdeBharmAthene what the Cc
described as an equitable payment stream or etpiiiah consisting of fifty percent of the net gtsfthat SIGA achieves from sales of 34€
after SIGA secures the first $40 million in netfixy for ten years following the first commercidle. In addition, PharmAthene was awa
one-third of its reasonable attorney fees and éxpitness expense®ased on certain documents provided to the CourPliigrmAthene |
January 2012, SIGA recorded a loss contingencypfaximately $2.0 million for such attorney feeslaxpert witness expenses as part «
accrued expenses as of December 31, 2011. Theetiffe between the amount accrued and PharmAtheeglest for $2.7 million relates
amounts currently in dispute.

SIGA filed a motion for reargument in October 20fgquesting that the Court vacate its award ofcpuitable payment stream or equitable |
In December 2011, the Court denied SIGA’s motion.

The timing and amount of payments to be made patdoahe Court September 2011 ruling remain uncertain. Detertioinaf these matte
requires both clarification as to the applicatidrttee Court’s post-trial ruling and the timing aachount of payments to SIGA for sales of ST-
246. Thus, the Company is unable to estimate aerahtpss that may result from implementation & @ourt’s postrial ruling with respect 1
ST-246 sales, although this ruling is likely to haveaterially adverse impact unless the Companydsessful in any subsequent appeal o
Court’s final judgment. The Company cannot asshieesticcess of any such appeal.

From time to time, the Company is involved in disgsuor legal proceedings arising in the ordinamyrse of business. The Company belit

that there is no dispute or litigation pending, eptcas discussed above, that could have, indiMidwalin the aggregate, a material adv
effect on its financial position, results of opé&as or cash flows.
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12. Financial Information By Quarter (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

2011 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

(in thousands, except for per share data)

Selling, general and administrative 4,25( 9,351 3,96¢ 6,36z

Patent preparation fees 34z 413 482 571

Net income (loss) (4,707) 23,84. 21C (5,75%)

Earnings (loss) per share: diluted $ 0.09 $ 0.4

©¥
I
©¥

(0.11)

High $ 1566 $ 154C 998 3.5¢

Three Months Ended
2010 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

(in thousands, except for per share data)

Selling, general and administrative 1,96¢ 2,23¢ 1,38¢ 2,53¢

Patent preparation fees 32C 30¢€ 23t 28¢

Net loss (4,93) (5,25) (4,430) (13,579

Market price range for common stock

Low $ 55 $ 6.0 $ 6.9¢ $ 7.7¢
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&mon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &vated the effectiveness of «
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decembe?@®L1. The term “disclosure controls and procestuis defined in Rules 13E5(e) an
15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 18Bhagement recognizes that any disclosure cenémodl procedures no matter t
well designed and operated, can only provide restslenassurance of achieving their objectives andagament necessarily applies
judgment in evaluating the c-benefit relationship of possible controls and paares.

Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive @ffamd Chief Financial Officer have concluded tloai; disclosure controls a
procedures were effective as of December 31, 20a4Te@asonable level of assurance.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaiimg adequate internal control over financigdasing, as such term is defir
in Rule 13a-15(f) or Rule 15#5(f) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1984einal control over financial reporting is a preselesigned
provide reasonable assurance regarding the rdfjabil financial reporting and the preparation ofancial statements prepared for exte
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. Our internal control over fingacreporting includes those policies
procedures that:

a. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thansactions and disposition of
Company'’s assets;

b. provide reasonable assurance that transactionseeoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accorda
with generally accepted accounting principles, #rat receipts and expenditures of the Company eirggbmade only in accordar
with authorizations of management and the direatbthke Company; and

c. provide reasonable assurance regarding preweotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of the Compasy’
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or detamisstatements. Also, projectic
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may becmadequate because of changes in condi
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

Our management, including our Chief Executive @iffiand Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evéduaof the effectiveness
the Companys internal control over financial reporting as céd@mber 31, 2011. In making this evaluation, mamage used the criteria
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadway Commission (the “COSQ”)lmternal Control-Integrated Framework .
Based on this evaluation using the COSO criterianagement concluded that the Comparipternal control over financial reporting v
effective as of December 31, 2011.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting as of December 31, 2011 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoof
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no changes in our internal conten financial reporting during the quarter endead®eber 31, 2011 that materit
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.

55




Table of Contents
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporée Governance

Information required by this item is incorporateztdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagemfor the 2012 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item is incorporategtéin by reference from our definitive proxy staéemfor the 2012 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item is incorporategtéin by reference from our definitive proxy staéemfor the 2012 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain compensatitan information with respect to compensation plas of December 31, 2011:

Number of Securities to be Weighted-average Number of Securities
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Available for Future
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Issuance under Equity
Plan Category Warrants and Rights (1) Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans (2)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 2,799,79. $ 4.3¢ 1,077,54!
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — N/A —
Total 2,799,79: 1,077,54!

(1) Consists of the 1996 Incentive and Non-Quedifstock Option Plan and the 2010 Stock Incentiaa.P
(2) Consists of the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaains, and Director Independence

Information required by this item is incorporateztdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagemfor the 2012 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information required by this item is incorporategtéin by reference from our definitive proxy staéemfor the 2012 Annual Meeti

of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) and (2). Financial Statements and Financigtatements Schedule.

See Index to Financial Statements under Item &inIPhereof where these documents are listed.

(@) (3). Exhibits.

The following is a list of exhibits:

Exhibit
No.

Description

3(a)

3(b)

3(c)

4(a)

4(b)

4(c)

10(a)

10(b)

10(c)

10(d)

10(e)

10(f)

10(9)

1N/h\

Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Compamcdrporated by reference to the FornB Registration Statement of t
Company dated May 10, 2000 (No. 333-36682)).

Form of Certificate of Amendment of the Restatedtifieate of Incorporation of SIGA Technologies,cln(incorporated b
reference to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14Aeo€ompany dated June 15, 2007).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incatpd by reference to the Annual Report on FornK1df-the Compan
for the year ended December 31, 2008), as amenddtebAmendment to the Bylaws of the Company (ipooated by referenc
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the CompatedfiMarch 12, 2009).

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated bference to the Form SB-Registration Statement of the Company d
March 10, 1997 (No. 333-23037)).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Aug@st2D03, between the Company and MacAndrews & FoHb@dings Inc
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoift@m 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Form of Warrant to purchase shares of common stdtke Company, issued to MacAndrews & Forbes, ldriClune 19, 20C
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoft@amn 8-K of the Company filed on June 23, 2008).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Auddsd03, between the Company and MacAndrews & FoH@dings Inc
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@m 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Letter Agreement dated October 8, 2003 among thapgaay, MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings Inc. and TrawiTPharma, In
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@m 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Director Compensation Program, effective April 2005 (incorporated by reference to the Current Repo Form 8K of the
Company filed on April 26, 2005).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Nove®b2005, between Iroquois Master Fund Ltd., Craas€apital, L.P.
Omicron Master Trust, Smithfield Fiduciary LLC atite Company (incorporated by reference to the @uRReport on Form &
of the Company filed on November 4, 2005).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Octb®eP006, between the Company, Iroquois Master Huxd Cranshiri
Capital, L.P., Omicron Master Trust, Rockmore Irteent Master Fund, Ltd., and Smithfield Fiduciary@ (incorporated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGloenpany filed on October 20, 2006).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateaf danuary 22, 2007, between the Company and BeaniHruby
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoft@mn 8-K of the Company filed on January 22, 2007)

Amended Employment Agreement dated December 311,,261)anuary 27, 2007 Employment Agreement (asndew betwee
the Company and Dr. Hruby (incorporated by refegetocthe Current Report on Formk8ef the Company filed on December ;
2011).
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10(i)

10()

10(k)

10(l)

10(m)

10(n)

10(o)

10(p)

10(q)

10(r)

10(s)

10(t)

10(u)

10(v)

10(w)

10(x)

10(y)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datesf danuary 22, 2007, between the Company and BeaniHruby
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@m 8-K of the Company filed on January 22, 2007)

Amended Employment Agreement dated December 311,,20January 27, 2007 Employment Agreement (asded betwee
the Company and Dr. Hruby (incorporated by refeeetaicthe Current Report on FormKBef the Company filed on Decemk
27, 2011).

Letter Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2008, betweeCompany and MacAndrews & Forbes, LLC (incoaped by referenc
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Compatedfion June 23, 2008).

Contract, dated September 1, 2008, between the @&oyrgnd the National Institutes of Health, DHHS: @rporated by referen
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Companyhe quarter ending September 30, 2008).

Modification of Contract, dated September 17, 2a@8ween the Company and the National Institut@ligfrgy and Infectiou:
Diseases of the National Institutes of Health (rpooated by reference to the Quarterly Report amFb0-Q of the Company fc
the quarter ending September 30, 2008).

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 31, 288tWween the Company and Eric A. Rose (incorporbjereference to tr
Current Report on Form B-of the Company filed on January 31, 2007), asrated and restated (as set forth in the Cu
Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed on Novembgr2008).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated March2DD9, between the Company and Dennis E. Hruby (urated by
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofG@loenpany filed on March 12, 2009).

Employment Agreement dated as of February 10, 206dtiyeen SIGA and Daniel J. Luckshire (incorpordigdeference to tr
Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filedrabruary 16, 2011).

Extension Letter Agreement, dated April 29, 2008tween MacAndrews & Forbes LLC and the Companyofiporated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGloenpany filed on April 30, 2009).

Form of Consideration Warrants (incorporated benmafice to the Current Report on For &f the Company filed on April 3I
2009).

Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated byerefice to the Current Report on FornK &f the Company filed o
December 10, 2009).

2010 Stock Incentive Plan dated May 13, 2010 (ipomated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statatron Schedule 14A
the Company filed on April 12, 2010).

Amendment to the SIGA Technologies, Inc. 2010 Stoclentive Plan (incorporated by reference to theréht Report on Fori
8-K of the Company filed on May 17, 2011).

Deferred Closing and Registration Rights Agreemdated as of June 18, 2010, between MacAndrews r&dsoLLC and th
Company (incorporated by reference to the Curremd® on Form 8-K of the Company filed on JuneZ®10).

Separation and Consulting Agreement dated as ofubep 25, 2011, between SIGA and Ayelet Dugary diporated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGoenpany filed on March 3, 2011).

Contract dated as of May 13, 2011, between SIGAtaadBiomedical Advanced Research and Developmeniakity of the
United States Department of Health and Human Sesviportions of this exhibit have been omitted s@plarately filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission with a requestdnfidential treatment) (incorporated by refemio the Current Repc
on Form 8-K of the Company filed on May 17, 2011.

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of June 24, 2011, between SIGA and thend&i@al Advance
Research and Development Authority of the Uniteate€dt Department of Health and Human Services (ocated by referenc
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Compatedfion June 28, 2011).
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14

21

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

The Company’s Code of Ethics and Business Condncbiporated by reference to the Annual Report omF10KSB of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2003).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

Certification pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) or 1%de) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dampted pursuant to Sect
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief ExigeuOfficer.

Certification pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) or 1%de) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dmpted pursuant to Sect
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief FaianOfficer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanksr@ct of 2002 —Chief
Executive Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarksr@ct of 2002 —Chief
Financial Officer.

(1) These agreements were entered into prioreaekierse split of the Compasycommon stock and, therefore, do not reflect seebrs

split.

(2) Confidential information is omitted and identifibgl an * and filed separately with the SEC with qurest for Confidential Treatme
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidthas duly caused this repol
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: March 1, 2012 By: Is/Eric A. Rose
Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed béipwhe following persons
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title of Capacities Date
/s/ Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Eric A. Rose, M.D. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 1, 2012

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Danidl J. Luckshire

Daniel J. Luckshire Executive Vice President and March 1, 2012
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

/sl James J. Antal
James J. Antal Director March 1, 2012

/sl Michael J. Bayer
Michael J. Bayer Director March 1, 2012

/s/ William C. Bevins
William C. Bevins Director March 1, 2012

/s Thomas E. Constance

Thomas E. Constance Director March 1, 2012
/s Joseph Marshall
Joseph Marshall Director March 1, 2012

/s/Paul G. Savas
Paul G. Savas Director March 1, 2012

/s/Bruce Sovin

Bruce Slovin Director March 1, 2012
/s/ Andrew Sern
Andrew Stern Director March 1, 2012

/s Frances Fragos Townsend
Frances Fragos Townsend Director March 1, 2012




/s/ Michael Weiner, M.D.

Michael Weiner, M.D. Director March 1, 2012
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTIN&RM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referdncthe Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N88-B9756, 333-138796 and 333-
162746) and on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-167329, 333-13.2833-56216 and 3335992) of SIGA Technologies, Inc. of our reportedhMarch ¢
2011 relating to the financial statements and ffextveness of internal control over financial ogfing, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

New York, New York
March 1, 2012



Exhibit 31.1

Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Eric A. Rose, M.D., certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKléF SIGA Technologies, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omitéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoigl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedares tlesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhateubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogi@and the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataroce with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtidnis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contmald procedures, as of the end of the period coveyatiis report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in theistegnt’s internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materia
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, the registrant’s internal control over finae¢eporting; and

5. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdi on our most recent evaluation of internal @raver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theveden:
functions):

() All significant deficiencies and material weakressn the design or operation of internal contreérofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect tegistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinancia
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a significalet in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 1, 2012

/sl Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Daniel J. Luckshire, certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKléf SIGA Technologies, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omitéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoigl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedares tlesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhateubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogi@and the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataroce with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtidnis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contmald procedures, as of the end of the period coveyatiis report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in theistegnt’s internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materia
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, the registrant’s internal control over finae¢eporting; and

5. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdi on our most recent evaluation of internal @raver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theveden:
functions):

() All significant deficiencies and material weakressn the design or operation of internal contreérofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect tegistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinancia
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a significalet in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 1, 2012

/s/ Daniel J. Luckshire
Daniel J. Luckshire

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SIGA Teclugies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form Xfor the period ended December
2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cision on the date hereof (the “Report})Eric A. Rose, M.D., Chief Executive Officer

the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1380adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarkarkey Act of 2002, that to the best
my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdidey Section 906 has been provided to the Companywéll be retained by tt
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&uammission or its staff upon request.

/sl Eric A. Rose, M.D.

Eric A. Rose, M.D.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 1, 2012




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SIGA Tecluogies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form ¥0for the period ended December
2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cimsion on the date hereof (the “Report;)Daniel J. Luckshire, Executive Vice Presic
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifyarsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted purdoa®éction 906 of the Sarban®@siey
Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementse€tion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdidey Section 906 has been provided to the Companywéll be retained by tt
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&ugnmission or its staff upon request.

/s/Daniel J. Luckshire

Daniel J. Luckshire

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
March 1, 2012




